
Berkeley Homeless  
Services Panel of Experts 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info |

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx 

MEETING AGENDA 

Martin Luther King, Jr. Civic Center    February 5, 2020 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor           7:00 PM 
Commission Secretary:  Brittany Carnegie (981-5415) 

1. Roll Call.
2. Public Comment on agenda and non-agenda items.
3. Approval of Minutes from January 7, 2020 [Attachment 1].

Updates/Action Items: 
4. Agenda Approval.
5. Chair and Vice-Chair Elections.
6. Update from Chair and Staff on Council action and other City business related to

homelessness.
7. Update from Staff on Homeless Services data collection and analysis.
8. Update from Agenda and Work Plan Subcommittee, including possible action by the

full Commission [Attachment 2].
9. Discussion and Possible Action on Ending Family Homelessness [Attachment 3-5].
10. Adjourn

Attachments: 
1. Minutes from regular meeting of January 7, 2020.
2. HSPE Work Plan for years 2019-2020.
3. The City of Berkeley’s Plan to End Family Homelessness.
4. Data Sharing Agreement with the Institute for Children, Poverty, and

Homelessness
5. ICPH: The Seattle Atlas of Student Homelessness.
6. Letter to Council from HSPE on Measure P Allocations.

Public Comment Policy: 
Members of the public may speak on any items on the Agenda and items not on the Agenda 
during the initial Public Comment period. Members of the public may not speak more than once 
on any given item. The Chair may limit public comments to 3 minutes or less. 

Correspondence and Notice of Decision Requests: 

Deadlines for Receipt: 
A) Supplemental Materials must be received by 5 PM the day before the meeting.
B) Supplemental Communications must be received no later than noon the day of the meeting.

mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx


Page 2 of 3 
Homeless Services Panel of Experts Meeting Agenda 
February 5, 2020 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info |

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx 

Procedures for Distribution: 
A) Staff will compile all Supplemental Materials and Supplemental Communications received by
the deadlines above into a Supplemental Packet, and will print 15 copies of this packet for the
Commission meeting.
B) For any Supplemental Material or Communication from a Commissioner received after these
deadlines, it is the Commissioner’s responsibility to ensure that 15 printed copies are available
at the meeting. Commissioners will not be reimbursed for any printing or materials expenses.
C) Staff will neither print nor distribute Supplemental Communications or Materials for
subcommittee meetings.

Procedures for Consideration: 
A) The Commission must make a successful motion to accept and receive all Supplemental
Materials and Communications into the record. This includes the Supplemental Packet compiled
by staff.

B) Each additional Supplemental Material or Communication received by or before the meeting
that is not included in the Supplemental packet (i.e., those items received after the respective
deadlines above) must be individually voted upon to be considered by the full Commission.

C) Supplemental Materials subject to a Commission vote that are not accepted by motion of the
Commission, or for which there are not at least 15 paper copies (9 for each Commission seat,
one for staff records, and 5 for the public) available by the scheduled start of the meeting, may
not be considered by the Commission.

*Supplemental Materials are defined as any items authored by one or more Commissioners,
pertaining to an agenda item but available after the agenda and packet for the meeting has
been distributed, on which the Commission is asked to take vote at the meeting. This includes
any letter to Council, proposed Council report, or other correspondence on behalf of the
Commission for which a full vote of the Commission is required.

**Supplemental Communications are defined as written emails or letters from members of the 
public or from one or more Commissioners, the intended audience of which is the full 
Commission. Supplemental Communications cannot be acted upon by the Commission, and 
they may or may not pertain to agenda items. 

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this 
agenda will be made available for public inspection at Health, Housing & Community Services 
Department located at 2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor.   

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this 
agenda will be made available for public inspection at Health, Housing & Community Services 
Department located at 2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor.   

COMMUNITY ACCESS INFORMATION 
This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location. To request a disability-related 
accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please 
contact the Disability Services specialist at 981-6342 (V) or 981-6345 (TDD) at least 3 business 
days before the meeting date.  Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting. 

mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx


Page 3 of 3 
Homeless Services Panel of Experts Meeting Agenda 
February 5, 2020 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info |

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx 

Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will 
become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website. 
Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not 
required, but if included in any communication to a City board, commission or committee, will 
become part of the public record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact 
information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service or in 
person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or committee.  If you do not want your 
contact information included in the public record, please do not include that information in your 
communication.  Please contact the secretary to the relevant board, commission or committee 
for further information.  The Health, Housing & Community Services Department does not take a 
position as to the content.  Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees 
are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible 
through the City’s website.  Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other 
contact information are not required, but if included in any communication to a City board, 
commission or committee, will become part of the public record.  If you do not want your e-mail 
address or any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications 
via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or 
committee.  If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, please do 
not include that information in your communication.  Please contact the secretary to the relevant 
board, commission or committee for further information.  The Health, Housing & Community 
Services Department does not take a position as to the content.   

ADA Disclaimer “This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible 
location. To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in 
the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please contact the 
Disability Services Specialist at 981-6418 (V) or 981-6347 (TDD) at least 
three business days before the meeting date. Please refrain from wearing 
scented products to this meeting.” 

mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx


Berkeley Homeless  
Services Panel of Experts 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info |

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx 

MEETING MINUTES 
January 7, 2020 

1. Roll Call: 7:00 PM

Present:  Carrasco (absent 7:00-7:11), cheema, Gale, Jordan, Metz, Patil (absent
7:00-7:01), Whitson (absent 7:00-7:10), Trotz, Sutton (absent 7:00-7:16). 

Absent:  None. 
Staff: Carnegie, Lee 
Council:  Arreguin, McCormick 
Public: 9 

2. Comments from the Public:  None.
Update/Action Items

3. Approval of Minutes from November 6, 2019.
Action: M/S/C Jordan/cheema to approve the minutes of November 6, 2019 as
written.

Vote:  Ayes: cheema, Gale, Metz, Patil, Trotz, Jordan.
Noes: None.  Abstain: Whitson. Absent: Whitson, Sutton, Carrasco. 

4. Agenda Approval.

Approved as written.
5. Update from Chair and Staff on December Council action and other City business

related to homelessness.

Discussion; no action.

6. Discussion and possible action in response to Council action on Measure P
allocations.

Action: M/S/C cheema/Patil to extend the meeting until 9:10pm.

Vote:  Ayes: Carrasco, cheema, Gale, Metz, Patil, Whitson, Jordan, Trotz, Sutton.
 Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: None. 

Action: M/S/C cheema/Whitson to send a letter to Council in response to Council 
action on Measure P allocations. The letter will underscore the panel’s primary 
recommendations: 30% for PSH or at least $1.8 million, $500,000 set aside for 
families, and funding this in full prior to other allocations. The remaining $1.3 million 

Attachment 1

mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx


Homeless Services Panel of Experts - Minutes 
1-7-20

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info |

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx 

is consistent with the 1000 person plan. Also a request for a timeline of
implementing funds. 

Vote:  Ayes: Carrasco, cheema, Gale, Metz, Patil, Whitson, Jordan, Trotz, Sutton. 
 Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: None. 

7. Discussion, and possible action, of registering an objection (“No Confidence”)
regarding Council Action on Measure P Recommendations.

Agenda item withdrawn by Commissioner Carrasco.

Meeting adjourned at 9:10 PM. 

Minutes Approved on: _________________________ 

Brittany Carnegie, Commission Secretary:  

mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx


Panel of Experts (measure P)  
FY 2019-20 Meeting Goals     

Vision 
Measure P Panel of Experts will consider currently unmet needs, gaps and opportunities, best practices and currently available data on outcomes. We will 
make recommendations for increased local investment, including program types, target populations and geographic areas as appropriate. We will seek to 
consider the best us of these investments in the context of other available Federal, State and local funding. In general we will not make recommendations on 
the specific agencies to receive funding, nor run our own proposal process, recognizing this as a role for staff and the Council. 

Reporting Recommendations 
1. Subcommittee produce an annual report to be published in August meeting the requirements of the legislation: “recommendations on how to

allocate the City’s general funds to fund homeless services program in Berkeley; information if available, concerning the impact of funded programs
on the residents of the City; and any additional information that the Panel deems appropriate.”

2. Produce memos as needed (approximately quarterly) for city council with best practices, recommendations, updates and input and feedback on city
funding proposals and decisions. Content from quarterly memos, including October 29, 2019 memo to City Council will be a significant portion of the
annual report.

Recommendations for Agenda Items 
1) Standing item: Public Comment
2) Standing item: Verbal update from City staff on budget items related to homelessness (5-15 minutes)
3) Other items as requested (not to exceed 30 minutes). This will include time to review and discuss any funding decisions made by City Council.
4) Agenda items based on workplan goals below (60 -90 minutes)

Goals 

1. Learn who panel members are: their expertise, interests and goals
2. Develop Guiding Principles/values/criteria for funding decisions (examples: funding leverages other resources, builds system, serves the most

vulnerable, does not supplant existing funding)
3. Understand the budget cycle and key timelines.
4. Fully understand Current Landscape of Homeless services currently provided, their outcomes, financing, effectiveness, budgets. Focus on priority

areas (housing and shelter) and current, status, gaps, and coordinated entry process.
5. Understand potential financial resources that can be leveraged to maximize funding
6. Establish recommendations for on-going method to collect consumer input to inform committee, staff and council

Attachment 2



WORK PLAN for years 2019-20 
Panel of Experts (measure P)   

Vision 
Measure P Panel of Experts will consider currently unmet needs, gaps and opportunities, best practices and currently available data on outcomes. We will 
make recommendations for increased local investment, including program types, target populations and geographic areas as appropriate. We will seek to 
consider the best us of these investments in the context of other available Federal, State and local funding. In general we will not make recommendations on 
the specific agencies to receive funding, nor run our own proposal process, recognizing this as a role for staff and the Council. 

Reporting Recommendations 
1. Subcommittee produce an annual report to be published in August meeting the requirements of the legislation: “recommendations on how to

allocate the City’s general funds to fund homeless services program in Berkeley; information if available, concerning the impact of funded programs
on the residents of the City; and any additional information that the Panel deems appropriate.”

2. Produce memos as needed (approximately quarterly) for city council with best practices, recommendations, updates and input and feedback on city
funding proposals and decisions. Content from quarterly memos, including October 29, 2019 memo to City Council will be a significant portion of the
annual report.

Recommendations for Agenda Items 
1) Standing item: Public Comment
2) Standing item: Verbal update from City staff on budget items related to homelessness (5-15 minutes)
3) Other items as requested (not to exceed 30 minutes). This will include time to review and discuss any funding decisions made by City Council.
4) Agenda items based on workplan goals below (60 -90 minutes)

Goal Tasks/Agenda Meeting Date Recommendations/Action items 
Goal 1: Create a work plan as a 
road map for accomplishing the 
work in a systematic and focused 
way 

• Subcommittee presents a draft to full panel
• Committee provides input
• Establish subcommittee to prepare for

January meeting.

November 6, 2019 

Final Plan January  

• Subcommittee integrates feedback
and submits final plan

• Establish subcommittee or point
person to develop framework for
January 7 discussion guiding principle
criteria.

Goal 2: Develop Guiding 
Principles/values/criteria for 
funding decisions  

• Understand action taken by Council in
December

• Review and vote on updated workplan.

January 7, 2020 • Finalize workplan



• Panel members share expertise and best
practice knowledge

• Determine guiding principles for spending
new funding (examples: funding leverages
other resources, builds system, serves the
most vulnerable, does not supplant existing
funding)

• Presentation on Measure O

• Write-up guiding
principles/values/criteria for
committee approval

• Establish subcommittee to focus on
consumer input (March meeting)

Goal 3: Fully understand Current 
Landscape of Homeless services 
currently provided, their 
outcomes, financing, 
effectiveness, budgets. 

• Request staff provide information needed
for panel priority areas- focus on housing
and shelter.

• Presentation on current status, gaps, and
coordinated entry process

• Discuss opportunities to fill key areas of
need and leverage existing resources

February 5, 2020 • Vote on guiding principles.

Goal 4: Establish 
recommendations for on-going 
method to collect consumer input 
to inform committee, staff and 
council 

• Subcommittee present best practices on
using consumer input to direct program
planning and funding decisions

• Staff present current practices on collecting
consumer input

• Discussion on how to bring consumer input
into planning process.

• Review and finalize resources to learn
about at May 6 meeting.

March 4, 2020 • Appoint subcommittee or individual
to draft memo with:  guiding
principles, best practices including
best practices for using consumer
input, any recommendations for
current opportunities, and any input
on funding proposals that have been
made.

• Appoint committee member or staff
to reach out to get representatives
to come to May 6 meeting. Develop
clear questions and purpose.

Goal 5: Understand the budget 
cycle and key timelines. 

• Staff presentation and Q&A session
• Review draft memo

April 1, 2020 • Finalize draft memo and submit to
City Council

Goal 6: Representatives to present on current programs 
that touch homelessness and opportunities for 
partnership (sample list below): 

May, 6, 2020 • Establish subcommittee to draft
annual report.



Understand potential financial 
resources that can be leveraged to 
maximize funding 

• Measure O
• Berkeley Health Department
• No Place Like Home
• School District
• Alameda County
• State and Federal grant opportunities

Goal 7: Produce Annual Report • Review draft report. Annual report will build
from content learned and developed over the
fiscal year (including the first set of funding
recommendations made).

July 1, 2020 • Submit to Council after committee
approval.

• Establish workgroup to develop
workplan for 2020-21 Fiscal Year.



[INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



The City of Berkeley’s Plan to End Family Homelessness 

RECOMMENDATION 
Pursuant to 1000-person plan, refer to the City Manager a request for information clarifying: 

1. How to most effectively proceed, as the City of Berkeley, to the goal of functional zero
homelessness in the context of family homelessness.

2. What policies and investment areas best support the homeless families of Berkeley given their
particular circumstances within the context of the 1000-person plan:

a. What policies and investment areas best support families who are unsheltered in the
City of Berkeley;

b. What policies and investment areas best support families who are sheltered in the City
of Berkeley or surrounding areas;

c. What policies and investment areas best support families who are “doubled-up” in the
City of Berkeley;

3. How much before the estimated 2028 goal of reaching functional zero for the homeless
population at large is functional zero projected for unsheltered, sheltered, and doubled-up
families.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff time.  

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS  
In the 2019 Point-In-Time (PIT) Count, 19 homeless families with a total of 38 children were identified. 
However, according to the 1000-person plan, most homeless services experts agree that the “HUD 
PIT count actually undercounts the number of people experiencing homelessness in a community” by 
neglecting changes that occur on a day-to-day basis. In fact, the first finding included in the 1000-
person plan estimates that over the course of 2017, up to 1,983 people experienced homelessness in 
Berkeley - contrary to the count of 972 derived from a single night of data. 

In regards to the count on homeless families, Peter Radu with Health, Housing & Community 
Services stated: 

“The PIT count is a one-night count and necessarily misses anyone who, let’s say, lost their 
housing the day after the count. Over the course of a year, we estimate that on average in 
Berkeley, the number of people experiencing homelessness over the course of a year is likely 
2x the nightly count. For families, however, this “multiplier” is likely to be larger, given that 
families are less likely to experience long spells of homelessness and less likely to be 
chronically homeless. We can assume, then, that the multiplier is 3. This implies that over the 
course of a year, we actually have up to 19 x 3 = 57 homeless families in Berkeley -- 
incidentally, I ran a roster at our only family shelter for the past year, which saw exactly 57 
families” 

Source: Berkeley Youth Commission Public Record November 12th 2019 

Attachment 3



Moreover, according to both the 2017 and 2019 PIT Count, the average homeless family in Berkeley 
has 2 children. Given that over a given year, roughly 57 families experience homelessness, the data 
suggests that over the course of a year, we actually have up to 57 x 2 = 114 homeless children 
annually in Berkeley.  

In summary, our best estimates reveal 57 homeless families with 114 children in the city of Berkeley 
in a given year.  

Too many Berkeley families are homeless. 

The typical homeless family in America is a single mother with two children -- three quarters of 
homeless families are families of color (Nunez and Fox 1999). In Berkeley, this is not the case. In 
Berkeley, 97% of homeless families are families of color (Berkeley Unified School District 2017). 

Source: Berkeley Unified School District 2017 



Homeless children are profoundly vulnerable. In the Seattle Unified School District, Homeless 
Children of Color are the most frequently suspended and expelled compared to every other 
demographic. 

% Suspended or expelled by race and housing status, 2015–2016 

Source: Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness 2017 

On average, less than one out of four homeless children are expected to graduate high school 
(National Center on Family Homelessness, 2012).  

Nationally, family homelessness is strongly linked to domestic violence. Homeless mothers are at 
heightened risk of injury from physical violence, mental illness, and substance abuse, and their 
children experience more health problems and unmet medical needs than house and low-income 
children (Institute for Children, Poverty & Homelessness, 2015). Families must additionally address 
considerations such as childcare, safety, education, and staying together as a unit. 

Overall, homelessness in families often results from different circumstances, presents different 
challenges, and produces more extensive long-term effects than homelessness in individuals. It 
should then come as no surprise that the most reliable predictor of whether one will experience 
homelessness as an adult is whether one has experienced homelessness as a child. Ending family 
homelessness would be a unique opportunity to end generational cycles of adversity. 

BACKGROUND   
In April 2017, The City of Berkeley requested a plan to end homelessness for 1,000 people in 
Berkeley by 2028. Within this plan submitted in 2019, there exists no analysis on the unique 
challenges experienced by homeless families. No recommendations are offered as to how the City of 
Berkeley ought to specifically address this vulnerable population through sustained investment and 
policy craft. 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION 
Every Berkeley family and child deserves a safe and stable home. 



[INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



Data Sharing Agreement with the Institute for Children, Poverty, & 
Homelessness (ICPH) 

RECOMMENDATION 
Direct the City Manager or her designee to draft an information sharing agreement with the Berkeley 
Unified School District (BUSD) and the Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness (ICPH). 
This agreement would include the terms on which data would be shared between the Berkeley 
Unified School District (BUSD) and ICPH in the context of family homelessness.  

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION 
ICPH will provide data analysis free of charge. Some staff time will be necessary to draft and present 
the data sharing agreement.  

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS  
Of the 183 homeless students found by the School District in 2019, the following distribution 
represents the circumstances of their homelessness: 

a. Motels - 5

b. Doubled Up - 155

c. Unsheltered / Vehicle - 5

d. Unsheltered / Tent - 1

e. Temp. Shelter - 17

Due to limited resources, BUSD is unable to leverage its existing data to exhaustively study the 
wellbeing of the homeless families of Berkeley in respect to their demographics and academic 
achievement. 

BACKGROUND   
Item 13 of 2017 referred the City Manager and the Youth Commission to develop a homeless youth 
policy which “coordinates with the Berkeley Unified School District to identify homeless youth.” To 
date, no such coordination has been established.  

ICPH researches the causes of family homelessness, the demographics of this growing population, 
the conditions that make it difficult for homeless families to become self-sufficient, and the most 
effective programs aimed at helping them transition out of poverty. Their publications have informed 
government officials, policymakers, advocates, academics, and service providers across the country, 
and have helped promote a robust, evidence-based dialogue on family and child homelessness.  

The focus of ICPH data analysis include: (1) the demographics of student homelessness, (2) 
challenges for homeless students’ academic stability (3) educational achievement of homeless 
students and (4) homeless students and school discipline.  

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION 
The City of Berkeley’s Youth Commission has asked the BUSD to conduct an in-depth analysis of the 
school district’s data with regard to family homelessness, but due to the lack of funding and 
resources, this task was deemed unfeasible. 

Attachment 4



[INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



November 2017

 The Seattle Atlas 
 of Student Homelessness 

Attachement 5



Ralph da Costa Nunez, PhD, President and CEO
Liz Cohen, Chief of Staff
Frederick Joseph, Director of Communications  
and External Affairs

Project Team:
Josef Kannegaard, Principal Policy Analyst
Kristen MacFarlane, Senior GIS Analyst
Chloe Stein, Policy Analyst
Amanda Ragnauth, Policy Analyst
Alexander Guinn, Policy Associate
Graphic Design by Michael Bierman Graphic Design

A special thank you to: 
Seattle Public Schools 
Seattle Mayor’s Office Innovation Team

The data for this Atlas were provided primarily by Seattle Public Schools. Unless otherwise noted,  
the source for all charts, maps, and tables is Seattle Public Schools, unpublished data tabulated by the 
Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness, SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16.



3 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Executive Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4
Section 1: The Demographics of  
Student Homelessness in Seattle . . . . 7
Student Homelessness Is Growing in Seattle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
Homeless Students Are in Every Grade . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8
Black and Hispanic Students Are Overrepresented 
among Homeless Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
Less Than Half of Homeless Students Are in Shelter . . . . 9
Unaccompanied Youth Are More Likely 
to Stay Doubled-up. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10
Most Students Are Homeless Longer Than One Year . . 10
More Homeless Students Are in Special Education . . . . . . 11
One in Five Homeless Students Is in a  
Bilingual Program . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11
Maps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12
Where Homeless Students Attend School . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12
Where Is Student Homelessness Growing? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14
Geographic Patterns of IEP Identification  
among Homeless Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16
Geographic Patterns of Bilingual Education Needs 
among Homeless Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18

Section 2: Challenges for Homeless 
Students’ Academic Stability . . . . . . . . . . 20
Homeless Students Chronically Absent at  
2.5 Times the Rate of Housed Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21
More Than One in 10 Homeless Students  
Miss 40 or More Days of School . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21
Disparities in Chronic Absenteeism Exist in All Grades . . 22
Over Half of Doubled-up High Schoolers  
Chronically Absent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22
Homeless Students More Likely to Transfer  
More Than Once . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23
Homeless Students Transfer at Four Times  
the Rate of Housed Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23
Type of Homelessness Has Little Effect on Transfers ...24
Maps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25
Where Is Chronic Absenteeism Highest  
for Homeless Students? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25
Where Are Homeless Students Transferring  
into Mid-Year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27
Where Are Homeless Students Transferring  
Out of Mid-Year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29

Section 3: Educational Achievement 
of Homeless Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34
Homeless Students Meet Test Standards  
Half as Often as Housed Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32
Two in Five Homeless Students Receive  
Lowest Performance Level on Tests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32
Homeless Students Less Likely to Meet  
Math Standard Than Low-Income Peers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33
Proficiency in ELA Higher among Low-Income  
Students Than Homeless . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33
Homelessness Increases Racial Disparities  
in Test Performance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34
Doubled-up Students Performed Slightly Better  
Than Those in Shelter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34
Maps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35
Geographic Patterns of Math Proficiency  
among Homeless Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35
Geographic Patterns of ELA Proficiency  
among Homeless Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37

Section 4: Homeless Students  
and School Discipline . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39
Homeless Students Disciplined at  
Twice the Rate of Housed Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40
Racial Disparities in Discipline Exacerbated 
by Housing Instability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40
Young Homeless Students Disciplined for  
More Serious Incidents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41
Homeless Students Receive Stronger Penalties  
for Same Level of Offense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41
Homeless Students with IEPs More Likely  
to be Disciplined . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42
Maps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43
Geographic Patterns of Discipline Rates  
among Homeless Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .43
Types of Disciplined Behavior among  
Homeless Students . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45

Methodology and Data Notes . . . . . . . . . . .47

Table of Contents



4 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Executive Summary 
While Seattle is known for its tech titans, cycling enthusiasts, and progressive values, 
it is also home to over 3,600 homeless students. Ninety-seven percent of all public 
schools in Seattle serve at least one homeless student; 71% serve more than 10.  
In this publication, we at the Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness, 
through a partnership with Seattle Public Schools (SPS), illustrate just how pervasive 
and far-reaching the issue of student homelessness is across the city. These students  
face unique challenges to their education, and in the pages to follow we analyze the 
ways in which homelessness impacts their academic experience even beyond  
the effects of race or poverty. 

The crisis of child and family homelessness continues to grow in Seattle. In late 2015, 
the city declared a state of emergency on family homelessness, enacting a plan to 
expand services and funding across multiple city agencies, including SPS. Increased 
attention has brought with it increased identification, as more homeless families and 
children are connected with services they need. Finding more of the “hidden home-
less” only highlights the need for an even stronger response to the obstacles faced  
by thousands of schoolchildren every day. 

Obstacles such as a student’s housing status should 
not define their life outcomes. Education is the key to 
minimizing the potential negative impact that home-
lessness has on a child. By ensuring that students are 
able to thrive academically as they cope with housing 
instability, teachers and schools can equip them with 
the necessary skills to break the cycle of poverty that 
can often plague families for generations. 

This is why schools remain a critical component in the 
fight against homelessness. Not only do they provide 
benefits to students, they also play an essential role 
in helping craft new solutions. One way they do this is 
through the data schools provide the Department of 
Education about “doubled-up” students. By law, the  
U.S. Department of Education defines homelessness  
to include students who are “doubled-up,” meaning 
they are staying temporarily with another household 
due to economic hardship. 

Including these students—as opposed to only those 
living in a shelter—provides a fuller and more accurate 
picture of family homelessness across any jurisdiction.  
At the same time, we must recognize that not all 
homeless students are the same and that factors such 
as a student’s race and ethnicity, or whether they live 
in a shelter or on the street, are going to shape which 
solutions are most likely to help. 

The purpose of The Seattle Atlas of Student  
Homelessness is not to pass judgment on any policy 
initiative or program, but to provide an in-depth look 
at the educational risks and outcomes of homeless 
students. Homelessness can impact a student’s ability 
to succeed academically in a variety of ways—from lit-
erally keeping them out of the classroom with frequent 
moves and transfers, to trauma-induced behavioral 
issues that can impede their learning. This report 
explores these and other ways that homeless students 
can be disadvantaged relative to their classmates and 
where in Seattle these issues are most prevalent. 



5 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Our ability to conduct this research was limited  
only by the availability of data. SPS could not provide 
student-level information to identify low-income  
students, so in many cases we are unable to compare 
the outcomes of homeless students with their low- 
income peers who have never been homeless. We also 
do not know where these students are living, so this 
report focuses on where they attend school. Homeless 
children have the right under federal law to remain 
enrolled in a school even if they move outside the 
catchment area or district, and we simply do not have 
the information to report on how many homeless  
students in Seattle are living in the neighborhoods  
in which they go to school. 

We hope Seattle will come together to unpack  
our findings, which show that homeless students  
have significantly different experiences than their 
classmates—such as the fact that one out of every  
five black students is homeless, over 30% of home-
less students missed more than a month of school, 
and over 40% of homeless students in grades 3–8 
scored in the lowest possible category on the state 
assessment—and will use this analysis to chart a path 
forward. This report is not the final word, but rather  
a launch point for deeper conversations and action  
to support homeless students as the work to end 
homelessness continues. 



6 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Key Findings

Homelessness is growing across Seattle.  
Since the 2012–13 school year, homelessness 
has increased in schools across every  
neighborhood in Seattle, with the exception  
of Beacon Hill. Rates of growth have been 
highest in areas to the east, including  
Rainier Valley, Capitol Hill, Lake City,  
and Seward Park.

Interagency Academy, a network of  
alternative high schools, enrolls many of  
the city’s homeless students. Thirteen  
percent of homeless students were in Inter-
agency Academy during SY 2015–16, and  
36% of all students within the network were 
identified as homeless that year. Interagency 
Academy locations were also consistently 
among the schools with the highest transfer 
rates for homeless students.

A student’s type of homelessness presents 
unique challenges. Only 37% of homeless  
students were sleeping in a shelter during  
SY 2015–16. Being doubled up was associated 
with a much higher likelihood of chronic  
absenteeism for homeless high school  
students, while students in shelter were 
less likely to meet grade-level standards on 
3rd-8th grade English Language Arts exams.

Housing instability compounds known racial 
and economic disparities. When measured  
using standardized state assessments,  
the “opportunity gap” faced by low-income 
students and students of color is even wider 
if a student is also homeless. Similarly, the  
disparity in how often students of color 
receive school suspensions is also increased 
when housing status is considered.

Many homeless students have support  
needs beyond housing. Fifty-three percent 
of students homeless in SY 2015–16 had been 
homeless in at least one of the previous three 
years. Close to 20% of homeless students 
had an IEP, and these students were not only 
more likely to be cited for disciplinary offens-
es than other homeless students, but more 
likely to engage in severe behaviors rated as  

“Exceptional Misconduct.”



7 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Section 1 
  The Demographics of  
 Student Homelessness  
 in Seattle
Over 3,600 public school students, or one out of every 16 children, experienced  
homelessness in Seattle during the 2015–16 school year. This is over 6% of the  
total student body in Seattle Public Schools and represents a growth of 55% since 
SY 2012–13. These students are predominantly black and Hispanic and come from all 
grade levels. Most are staying in unstable “doubled-up” living conditions rather than 
in a shelter, and a majority have experienced housing instability over multiple years.  
 There is also significant overlap between homelessness and a student’s need for  
additional supports, with many homeless students having an Individualized Education 
Plan (IEP) or enrolled in a bilingual program. This section explores the overarching 
trends that define student homelessness in Seattle: who these students are, where 
they attend school, and where in the city homelessness is growing the fastest. 

 Key Findings
Rainier Valley, the Central Area, and Delridge 
had the most homeless students in the city.

Since the 2012–13 school year, Capitol Hill, 
Rainier Valley, and Lake City saw the largest 
percent increases in number of homeless 
students.

Thirteen percent of homeless students in  
SY 2015–16 attended Interagency Academy,  
a network of alternative high schools for 
struggling students.

 Policy Considerations
Although Seattle declared a state of  
emergency on homelessness in 2015, many 
homeless students are not eligible to be con-
nected with the housing resources available 
through Family Housing Connections. This is 
due to the narrower definition of homeless-
ness used by some federal agencies.

Much of the growth in student homelessness 
and related indicators are signs of improved 
identification and expanded services. Newly 
identified students are not necessarily  
newly homeless and would benefit most  
from additional funding and services that  
address the long-term challenges of poverty  
and housing instability.



8 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Student  
 Homelessness Is    
 Growing in Seattle
Since SY 2012–13, the number of homeless 
students increased by 55%, to 3,612. Over the 
same period, total enrollment rose by only 
7%. The percentage of students identified  
as homeless also increased, to 6.2%.

Ninety-seven percent of SPS schools  
that enrolled students in SY 2015–16 had 
homeless students. 

The increase is likely due in part to improved 
identification practices. In 2015, the City of 
Seattle declared a state of emergency on 
homelessness, providing additional funds and 
developing a response plan with SPS to better 
connect homeless students with services.

Homeless Students in  
Seattle Public Schools
SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16
n Number of homeless students
n Homeless students as a percentage of all students

 Homeless Students   
 Are in Every Grade
Homeless students represented between  
4–8% of the student population in all grades 
except preschool (2%) and 12th grade (13%). 
Pre-K enrollment of homeless students will 
likely rise as programs continue to expand.

Interagency Academy, a network of alterna-
tive high schools, enrolled over 450 homeless 
students across Seattle. These students  
represented 36% of Interagency Academy’s 
total enrollment in SY 2015–16.

Homeless Students, by Grade Level
SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16
n Mainstream SPS schools 
n Interagency Academy

Pre-K

Kindergarten

1st Grade

2nd Grade

3rd Grade

4th Grade

5th Grade

6th Grade

7th Grade

8th Grade

9th Grade

10th Grade

11th Grade

12th Grade

2,327

4.3%

2,227

4.0%
3,002

5.2%

3,612

6.2%

SY 2015–16SY 2014–15SY 2013–14SY 2012–13

36 258

293

282

538

84

87

242

44

208

247

264

287

256

259

219

222

235

222

209

195

296



9 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Black and Hispanic 
Students Are Over- 
Represented among 
Homeless Students
Black and Hispanic students were over- 
represented among the homeless population, 
making up a combined 66% of homeless  
students despite being only 31% of the  
total student population.

 Twenty-three percent of all Pacific Islander 
and American Indian students were identified 
as homeless in SY 2015–16, along with 17% of 
black and 10% of Hispanic students.

Race and Ethnicity, 
by Housing Status
SY 2015–16
n American Indian n Asian n Black n Caucasian
n Hispanic n Multiracial n Pacific Islander

 Less Than Half of   
 Homeless Students 
 Are in Shelter
 The majority of homeless students (57%)  
slept in unstable “doubled-up” living situations. 
Thirty-seven percent were in a shelter, and  
~7% were unsheltered or in a hotel or motel.

Doubled-up students are not eligible for many 
of the same housing resources as other home-
less students, such as those available through 
Family Housing Connections, due to differing 
federal definitions of homelessness.

Homeless Students’ Primary 
Nighttime Residence
SY 2015–16
n Shelter n Doubled up 
n Unsheltered n Hotel/motel

57%

3%4%

37%

10% 9%

20%
12%

14%
47%

46%
15%

6% 16%
3%

2%

1%
Homeless 
students

Housed 
students

<1%



10 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Unaccompanied 
Youth Are More 
Likely to Stay  
Doubled-up
Five hundred seventy-seven students,  
or 16% of all students who were homeless in 
SY 2015–16, were unaccompanied youth who 
did not live with a parent or guardian. One 
hundred fifty-nine of them (28%) were age  
18 or older at the start of the school year.

Of all unaccompanied youth in SY 2015–16, 
61% lived doubled up with another household, 
36% were in a shelter, and 4% lived in a hotel 
or motel or were unsheltered.

Unaccompanied Youth,  
by Primary Nighttime Residence
SY 2015–16
n Doubled-up unaccompanied youth
n Sheltered unaccompanied youth
n Other unaccompanied youth
n Other homeless students
n All unaccompanied youth

 Most Students Are 
 Homeless Longer 
 Than One Year
Fifty-three percent of students who were 
homeless during SY 2015–16 had been identi-
fied as homeless in previous years. Over one  
in 10 homeless students had been homeless in  
every year since SY 2012–13, although not  
necessarily continuously.

Of the 3,612 students identified as homeless 
in SY 2015–16, 953 (26%) were enrolled in  
SPS for the first time that year. Twenty-two 
percent of these students were in either  
preschool or kindergarten, while 13% were  
in 12th grade. 

Number of Years Homeless
SY 2015–16
n Homeless during 1 year 
n Homeless during 2 years 
n Homeless during 3 years 
n Homeless during 4 years

84% 16%

61%

36%

4%

47%

24%

18%

12%



11 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 More Homeless  
 Students Are in  
 Special Education
Close to one in five homeless students  
received special education services in  
SY 2015–16. The number of homeless students  
has increased 65% since SY 2012–13, more 
than the overall growth in homelessness 
during that time.

The age at which a homeless student  
receives an IEP has been shown to have an 
effect on later educational achievement.  
The high mobility of homeless students  
represents a unique challenge during the  
IEP identification process.

Special Education Enrollment, 
by Housing Status
SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16
n Percent of homeless students
n Percent of housed students
n Number of homeless students

 One in Five  Homeless 
 Students Is  in a  
 Bilingual Program
Between SY 2012–13 and SY 2015–16, the  
number of homeless students in bilingual  
programs more than doubled and repre- 
sented close to one in five of all students.  
Over the same period, the number among 
housed students rose by 17%, to slightly  
less than one in eight of all students.

Ten percent of homeless students reported 
Spanish as their primary language. Somali, 
Tigrinya, and Amharic were also common 
among homeless students, with over  
100 speakers each.

Bilingual Education Needs, 
by Housing Status
SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16
n Percent of homeless students in bilingual programs
n Percent of housed students in bilingual programs

432

13.9%

412

14.9%

619

14.9%

714

19.8%

15.7%

20.6%

18.5%18.6%

SY 2015–16SY 2014–15SY 2013–14SY 2012–13

19%

12%

18%

12%

14%

10%

13%

11%

SY 2015–16SY 2014–15SY 2013–14SY 2012–13



12 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Rainier Valley, Downtown, and the Central 
Area neighborhoods had the highest rates 
of student homelessness.

Rainier Valley and the Central Area had the 
highest raw numbers of homeless students, 
with 1,047 and 548 respectively.

Garfield High had the most homeless  
students, with 136. Among elementary and 
middle schools, Dunlap Elementary and  
Washington Middle had the most homeless 
students, with 86 and 106, respectively.

See Methodology section for full explanation of neighborhood boundaries  
and names.

 Where Homeless 
 Students  
 Attend School
Percent of Students Who Are Homeless, 
by Neighborhood and School 
SY 2015–16

Schools
 Elementary

● 1.5%–7.5%

  ● 7.6%–16.6%

  ● 16.7%–34.8%

  ● 34.9%–61.8%

  ● 61.9%–97.9%

 Middle

● 1.5%–7.5%

  ● 7.6%–16.6%

  ● 16.7%–34.8%

  ● 34.9%–61.8%

  ● 61.9%–97.9%

 High

● 1.5%–7.5%

  ● 7.6%–16.6%

  ● 16.7%–34.8%

  ● 34.9%–61.8%

  ● 61.9%–97.9%

● Less Than 10 Homeless
Students/Data Unavailable

Neighborhoods

n 1.8%–2.2% n 7.3%–10.5% 

n 2.3%–3.2% n 10.6%–21.2%

n 3.3%–7.2% n Less Than 10 Homeless
 Students/Data Unavailable

MAGNOLIA

1 2

6

11
10

13

19 20 18

18

17 16

15

18

14

8 9

5

3

4

SEWARD 
PARK

INTERBAY

QUEEN ANNE CAPITOL 
HILL

CENTRAL 
AREA

DOWNTOWN

BEACON 
HILL

DELRIDGE

WEST 
SEATTLE

RAINIER 
VALLEY

NORTHGATE LAKE CITY

UNIVERSITY
 DISTRICT

BALLARD

Broadview
Bitter Lake
Greenwood
Crownhill
North Beach
Blue Ridge

Phinney Ridge
Green Lake
Wallingford
Fremont

Industrial District
Georgetown
South Park
Harbor Island

Roosevelt
Wedgwood
View Ridge
Sand Point
Ravenna
Bryant
Windermere
Laurelhurst7

Dunlap  
Elementary

Washington 
Middle

Garfield High

12

CASCADE



13 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Top 10 Neighborhoods with Highest Rates of Student Homelessness, SY 2015–16 
Neighborhood Homeless Students Total Students Percent Homeless

Rainier Valley 1,047 7,214 15%
Downtown 49 372 13%
Central Area 548 5,217 11%
Capitol Hill 107 1,308 8%
Delridge 369 4,684 8%
Seward Park 29 374 8%
Industrial District/Georgetown/South Park 41 568 7%
Broadview/Bitter Lake/Greenwood 178 2,749 6%
Northgate 209 3,304 6%
Beacon Hill 295 4,803 6%

 Top 10 Schools with Highest Number of Homeless Students, SY 2015–16 
School Homeless Students Total Students Percent Homeless

Garfield High 136 1,765 8%
Washington Middle 106 1,109 10%
Rainier Beach High 99 694 14%
Chief Sealth International High 95 1,193 8%
Seattle World 90 362 25%
Dunlap Elementary 86 429 20%
Interagency Open Doors 86 145 59%
Denny International Middle 83 933 9%
Aki Kurose Middle 81 759 11%
Franklin High 81 1,294 6%

 Where Homeless Students 
 Attend School



14 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Since SY 2012–13, Capitol Hill and Rainier  
Valley saw homelessness grow the most,  
with percent increases of 312% and 217%,  
respectively. Beacon Hill was the only area 
with a decline in student homelessness.

Among mainstream schools, Lowell Elemen- 
tary, Rainier Beach High, and Garfield High 
had the highest increases in homelessness, 
with each having 60 more homeless students 
in SY 2015–16 than in SY 2012–13. Lowell  
Elementary is the assigned school for  
students in downtown shelters.

 Where Is Student 
 Homelessness  
 Growing?
Percent Increase in Homeless Students, 
by Neighborhood and School 
SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16

Schools
 Elementary

● -34.6%–0.0%

  ● 0.1%–60.0%

  ● 60.1%–143.3%

  ● 143.4%–309.1%

  ● 309.2%–670.0%

 Middle

● -34.6%–0.0%

  ● 0.1%–60.0%

  ● 60.1%–143.3%

  ● 143.4%–309.1%

  ● 309.2%–670.0%

 High

● -34.6%–0.0%

  ● 0.1%–60.0%

  ● 60.1%–143.3%

  ● 143.4%–309.1%

  ● 309.2%–670.0%

● Less Than 10 Homeless
Students/Data Unavailable

Neighborhoods

n -51.8%–0.0% n 88.4%–157.1% 

n 0.1%–32.3% n 157.2%–311.5%

n 32.4%–88.3% n Less Than 10 Homeless
 Students/Data Unavailable

MAGNOLIA

1 2

6

11
10

13

19 20 18

18

17 16

15

18

14

8 9

5

3

4

SEWARD 
PARK

INTERBAY

QUEEN ANNE CAPITOL 
HILL

CENTRAL 
AREA

DOWNTOWN

BEACON 
HILL

DELRIDGE

WEST 
SEATTLE

RAINIER 
VALLEY

NORTHGATE LAKE CITY

UNIVERSITY
 DISTRICT

BALLARD

Broadview
Bitter Lake
Greenwood
Crownhill
North Beach
Blue Ridge

Phinney Ridge
Green Lake
Wallingford
Fremont

Industrial District
Georgetown
South Park
Harbor Island

Roosevelt
Wedgwood
View Ridge
Sand Point
Ravenna
Bryant
Windermere
Laurelhurst7

Garfield High

Lowell  
Elementary

Rainier Beach
High

12

CASCADE



15 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Top 10 Neighborhoods with Highest Percent Growth in Homeless Students, 
SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16 

Homeless Students,  Homeless Students, Percent Change, 
Neighborhood SY 2012–13 SY 2015–16 SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16

Capitol Hill 26 107 312%
Rainier Valley 330 1,047 217%
Lake City 63 162 157%
Seward Park 14 29 107%
Delridge 196 369 88%
Broadview/Bitter Lake/Greenwood 103 178 73%
Central Area 337 548 63%
Ballard 44 71 61%
Phinney Ridge/Green Lake/Wallingford 60 96 60%
Magnolia 14 22 57%

 Top 10 Schools with Highest Growth in Number of Homeless Students, 
SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16 

Change in Number of
Homeless Students,  Homeless Students, Homeless Students, 

School SY 2012–13 SY 2015–16 SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16

Seattle World 22 90 +68
Lowell Elementary 10 77 +67
Rainier Beach High 35 99 +64
Garfield High 74 136 +62
Dunlap Elementary 33 86 +53
Mercer International Middle 30 73 +43
Aki Kurose Middle 40 81 +41
Chief Sealth International High 55 95 +40
Denny International Middle 44 83 +39
Jane Addams Middle – – +38
Franklin High 48 81 +33

 Where Is Student  Homelessness  Growing?



16 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

The Industrial District/ Georgetown area, 
Queen Anne, and Ballard had 30% or more of 
their homeless students in special education.

Rainier Valley and Lake City had the lowest 
rates, at 15% and 17%, respectively.

Denny International Middle, Chief Sealth  
International High, and Garfield High had  
the highest number of homeless students 
in special education. 

 Geographic Patterns 
 of IEP Identification 
 among Homeless  
 Students
Percent of Homeless Students in Special Education, 
by Neighborhood and School  
SY 2015–16

Schools
 Elementary

● 0.0%–5.7%

  ● 5.8%–16.2%

  ● 16.3%–23.9%

  ● 24.0%–35.0%

  ● 35.1%–54.5%

Middle

● 0.0%–5.7%

  ● 5.8%–16.2%

  ● 16.3%–23.9%

  ● 24.0%–35.0%

  ● 35.1%–54.5%

 High

● 0.0%–5.7%

  ● 5.8%–16.2%

  ● 16.3%–23.9%

  ● 24.0%–35.0%

  ● 35.1%–54.5%

● Less Than 10 Homeless
Students/Data Unavailable

Neighborhoods

n 9.1%–10.3% n 23.7%–27.0% 

n 10.4%–19.8% n 27.1%–34.1%

n 19.9%–23.6% n Less Than 10 Homeless
 Students/Data Unavailable

MAGNOLIA

1 2

6

11
10

13

19 20 18

18

17 16

15

18

14

8 9

5

3

4

SEWARD 
PARK

INTERBAY

QUEEN ANNE CAPITOL 
HILL

CENTRAL 
AREA

DOWNTOWN

BEACON 
HILL

DELRIDGE

WEST 
SEATTLE

RAINIER 
VALLEY

NORTHGATE LAKE CITY

UNIVERSITY
 DISTRICT

BALLARD

Broadview
Bitter Lake
Greenwood
Crownhill
North Beach
Blue Ridge

Phinney Ridge
Green Lake
Wallingford
Fremont

Industrial District
Georgetown
South Park
Harbor Island

Roosevelt
Wedgwood
View Ridge
Sand Point
Ravenna
Bryant
Windermere
Laurelhurst7

Garfield High

Denny  
International 
Middle

Chief Sealth
International 
High

12

CASCADE



17 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Top 10 Neighborhoods with Highest Percent of Homeless Students in Special Education,  
SY 2015–16   

  Homeless Students    
Neighborhood in Special Education Total Homeless Students  Percent in Special Education

Industrial District/Georgetown/South Park 14 41 34%
Queen Anne 22 70 31%
Ballard 21 71 30%
Roosevelt/Wedgwood/View Ridge 37 137 27%
Delridge 99 369 27%
West Seattle 40 155 26%
Broadview/Bitter Lake/Greenwood 42 178 24%
Downtown 11 49 22%
Phinney Ridge/Green Lake/Wallingford 19 96 20%
Beacon Hill 55 295 19%

 Top 10 Schools with Highest Number of Homeless Students in Special Education,  
SY 2015–16   

  Homeless Students    
School in Special Education Total Homeless Students  Percent in Special Education

Denny International Middle 28 83 34%
Chief Sealth International High 25 95 26%
Garfield High 24 136 18%
Washington Middle 23 106 22%
Whitman Middle 22 67 33%
Ingraham International High 18 64 28%
Interagency at King County Jail 18 60 30%
Rainier Beach High 16 99 16%
South Lake High 15 64 23%
Mercer International Middle 14 73 19%

 Geographic Patterns  of IEP Identification 
 among Homeless  Students



18 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

In both Seward Park and the Central Area, 
over 30% of homeless students had bilingual 
education needs.

Among mainstream schools, Adams  
Elementary, B.F. Day Elementary, and  
Wing Luke Elementary had the highest rates 
of bilingual needs among homeless students.

 Geographic Patterns 
 of Bilingual Education 
 Needs among  
 Homeless Students
Percent of Homeless Students in Bilingual Programs,  
by Neighborhood and School  
SY 2015–16

Schools
 Elementary

● 0.0%–5.3%

  ● 5.4%–15.4%

  ● 15.5%–28.6%

  ● 28.7%–56.5%

  ● 56.6%–96.7%

 Middle

● 0.0%–5.3%

  ● 5.4%–15.4%

  ● 15.5%–28.6%

  ● 28.7%–56.5%

  ● 56.6%–96.7%

 High

● 0.0%–5.3%

  ● 5.4%–15.4%

  ● 15.5%–28.6%

  ● 28.7%–56.5%

  ● 56.6%–96.7%

● Less Than 10 Homeless 
 Students/Data Unavailable

Neighborhoods

n 4.5%–8.0% n 21.5%–31.0% 

n 8.1%–15.5% n 31.1%–37.9% 

n 15.6%–21.4% n Less Than 10 Homeless
   Students/Data Unavailable

MAGNOLIA

1 2

6

11
10

13

19 20 18

18

17 16

15

18

14

8 9

5

3

4

SEWARD 
PARK

INTERBAY

QUEEN ANNE CAPITOL 
HILL

CENTRAL 
AREA

DOWNTOWN

BEACON 
HILL

DELRIDGE

WEST 
SEATTLE

RAINIER 
VALLEY

NORTHGATE LAKE CITY

UNIVERSITY
 DISTRICT

BALLARD

Broadview
Bitter Lake
Greenwood
Crownhill
North Beach
Blue Ridge

Phinney Ridge
Green Lake
Wallingford
Fremont

Industrial District
Georgetown
South Park
Harbor Island

Roosevelt
Wedgwood
View Ridge
Sand Point
Ravenna
Bryant
Windermere
Laurelhurst7

Adams  
Elementary

Wing Luke
Elementary

B.F. Day  
Elementary

12

CASCADE



19 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Top 10 Neighborhoods with Highest Rate of Bilingual Program Enrollment 
for Homeless Students, SY 2015–16 

Homeless Students  
Neighborhood in Bilingual Programs Total Homeless Students  Percent in Bilingual Programs

Seward Park 11 29 38%
Central Area 170 548 31%
Industrial District/Georgetown/South Park 11 41 27%
Lake City 42 162 26%
Northgate 50 209 24%
Delridge 79 369 21%
Capitol Hill 22 107 21%
Beacon Hill 57 295 19%
Phinney Ridge/Green Lake/Wallingford 17 96 18%
Queen Anne 12 70 17%

 Top 10 Schools with Highest Number of Homeless Students in Bilingual Programs, 
SY 2015–16 

Homeless Students  
School in Bilingual Programs Total Homeless Students  Percent in Bilingual Programs

Seattle World 87 90 97%
Garfield High 29 136 21%
Interagency at Casa de los Amigos 26 46 57%
Dunlap Elementary 22 86 26%
Chief Sealth International High 22 95 23%
Northgate Elementary 21 57 37%
Washington Middle 21 106 20%
Van Asselt Elementary 20 73 27%
Lowell Elementary 19 77 25%
Rainier Beach High 18 99 18%

 Geographic Patterns  of Bilingual Education 
 Needs among  Homeless Students



20 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

  Section 2 
 Challenges for Homeless   
 Students’ Academic Stability
For homeless children, school is an important source of stability. Unfortunately, 
homelessness itself can undermine a student’s ability to attend school regularly, 
often leading to chronic absenteeism (missing over 10% of the school year) or mid-
year transfers as temporary living situations change. When homeless students miss 
classroom time, they fall further behind their classmates and become more likely to 
repeat grades and struggle academically in later years. Mid-year transfers have a 
similar destabilizing effect, depriving students of the teachers and classmates they 
are familiar with and setting them back academically by as much as six months.  
In this section, the relationships between homelessness, absenteeism, and school 
transfers are explored: how the specifics of a child’s housing instability can influence 
their risk, and how those risks can reinforce each other. 

 Key Findings
Downtown, Rainier Valley, and Queen Anne 
had the highest rates of chronic absenteeism 
among homeless students.

Downtown and Rainier Valley had high rates 
of homeless students transferring both in and 
out of the neighborhood.

Most schools with high numbers of homeless 
students transferring mid-year were  
Interagency Academy locations.

 Policy Considerations
Preventing chronic absenteeism among 
homeless students will require a coordinated 
effort by schools, shelters, and families to  
reduce the barriers to attendance these  
students face, whether they be inadequate  
transportation, family schedules, or  
unpredictable relocations.

The frequency with which homeless students 
enter and exit Interagency Academy schools 
should be viewed as an opportunity to assess 
how well mainstream high schools are serving 
homeless students.



21 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Homeless Students 
 Chronically Absent 
 at 2.5 Times the 
 Rate of Housed  
 Students
More than a third of homeless students  
were chronically absent in SY 2015–16,  
meaning they missed 18 days or more of  
instruction. This is 2.5 times the rate at  
which housed students missed the same 
amount of school.

Difficulty with transportation is a  
frequent cause of absenteeism, especially  
for homeless students. Under SPS policy, 
transportation-related absences for  
homeless students can be excused, saving 
them from penalties for truancy, but still  
represent classroom time lost.

Percent of Students Who  
Were Chronically Absent,  
by Housing Status
SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16
n Housed students
n Homeless students

 More Than One in 10 
 Homeless Students 
 Miss 40 or More 
Days of School
Homeless students were also more likely to 
miss significant amounts of the school year 
beyond 18 days. Sixteen percent of homeless  
students missed between four and eight 
weeks’ worth of instruction. About one in six 
students (16%) were absent for even longer.

Homeless students missed an average of  
20 school days during SY 2015–16. Housed 
students missed an average of 10. Homeless 
students were also four times more likely  
to miss at least two months of school  
than housed students.

Number of Days Absent,  
by Housing Status
SY 2015–16
n 0–<5 days n 5–<20 days 
n 20–<40 days n 40 or more days 

Housed students

Homeless students

SY 2015–16SY 2014–15SY 2013–14SY 2012–13

35%

14%

33%

13%

35%

14%

32%

13%

4%8%48%40%

31% 37% 16% 16%



22 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Disparities 
 in Chronic  
 Absenteeism Exist 
 in All Grades
Homeless students’ rates of absenteeism  
increase with age, with over one in three  
students in middle school and over half of all 
homeless students in high school being  
chronically absent.

The greatest disparity in chronic absenteeism 
rates was in middle school, where homeless 
students were almost three times more likely 
to be chronically absent than their  
housed peers.

Chronic Absenteeism Rates,  
by Grade and Housing Status
SY 2015–16
n Housed students
n Homeless students

 Over Half of  
 Doubled-up  
 High Schoolers 
 Chronically Absent
Rates of absenteeism were roughly equal for 
homeless students who were in a shelter or 
doubled-up in elementary or middle school.

In high school, nearly two-thirds of doubled-up 
students missed 18 days or more of school. 
Forty-one percent of high school students in 
shelter were also chronically absent.

Chronic Absenteeism Rates,  
by Grade and Primary Nighttime 
Residence
SY 2015–16
n Sheltered students
n Doubled-up students

56%

32%
36%

13%
18%

7%

Kindergarten 
to 5th Grade

6th to 8th 
Grade

9th to 12th 
Grade

62%

41%

32%
39%

18%18%

Kindergarten 
to 5th Grade

6th to 8th 
Grade

9th to 12th 
Grade



23 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Homeless Students 
 More Likely to 
 Transfer More  
 Than Once
 Ten percent of homeless students changed 
schools during the 2015–16 school year,  
compared to only 3% of housed students.

Over 2% of homeless students had to  
transfer schools more than once. This  
represents a rate of high mobility 4.5 times 
that seen among housed students.

Number of Mid-Year Transfers, 
by Housing Status
SY 2015–16
n 2 or more transfers 
n 1 transfer
n Did not transfer

Homeless students

Housed students

 Homeless Students 
 Transfer at Four 
 Times the Rate of 
 Housed Students
At all grade levels, homeless students  
transferred schools within SPS at three to 
seven times the rate of housed students. 
Rates were highest in high school, where  
16% of homeless students changed schools 
during the school year.

Percent of Students with a  
Mid-Year Transfer, by Grade 
and Housing Status
SY 2015–16
n Housed students
n Homeless students

89%

97%

8%

2%

2%

<1%

16%

5%

7%

1%

8%

2%

Kindergarten 
to 5th Grade

6th to 8th 
Grade

9th to 12th 
Grade



24 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

  Type of Homeless- 
 ness Has Little  
 Effect on Transfers
Disparities in the rate sheltered and  
doubled-up homeless students transferred 
were minimal, with 10–11% of both groups 
changing schools.

The differences across all groups were not 
statistically significant, due to the small 
number of students within each group. It is 
still important to consider how an individual 
student’s living situation may influence  
their risk of having to change schools.

Number of Mid-Year Transfers  
for Homeless Students,  
by Primary Nighttime Residence
SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16
n 2 or more transfers
n 1 transfer
n Did not transfer

Shelter

Doubled up

Unsheltered

Hotel/motel

89%9%

7%

6%

2%

3%

1% 15%

1%

90%

84%

93%



25 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Downtown, Rainier Valley, and Queen Anne 
had the highest rates of chronic absenteeism 
among homeless students. Phinney Ridge/
Green Lake and Capitol Hill had the lowest.

Homeless students were chronically absent  
at 3.5 times the rate of housed students in  
Queen Anne and Broadview/Bitter Lake.

Alternative schools, such as Interagency 
Academy and Middle College locations, had 
the highest rates of chronic absenteeism.

Among mainstream schools with at  
least 10 homeless students, Genesee Hill  
Elementary, McClure Middle, and Rainier 
Beach High had the highest rates  
for their grade levels.

Where Is Chronic  
Absenteeism Highest 
for Homeless Students?
Percent of Homeless Students Absent 18 Days or More,  
by Neighborhood and School  
SY 2015–16

Schools
 Elementary

● 0.0%–12.5%

  ● 12.6%–26.5%

  ● 26.6%–40.7%

  ● 40.8%–62.4%

  ● 62.5%–100.0%

 Middle

● 0.0%–12.5%

  ● 12.6%–26.5%

  ● 26.6%–40.7%

  ● 40.8%–62.4%

  ● 62.5%–100.0%

 High

● 0.0%–12.5%

  ● 12.6%–26.5%

  ● 26.6%–40.7%

  ● 40.8%–62.4%

  ● 62.5%–100.0%

● Less Than 10 Homeless 
 Students/Data Unavailable

Neighborhoods

n 10.0%–15.9% n 35.0%–42.4% 

n 16.0%–24.7% n 42.5%–62.5%

n 24.8%–34.9% n Less Than 10 Homeless
   Students/Data Unavailable

MAGNOLIA

1 2

6

11
10

13

19 20 18

18

17
16

15

18

14

8 9

5

3

4

SEWARD 
PARK

INTERBAY

QUEEN ANNE CAPITOL 
HILL

CENTRAL 
AREA

DOWNTOWN

BEACON 
HILL

DELRIDGE

WEST 
SEATTLE

RAINIER 
VALLEY

NORTHGATE LAKE CITY

UNIVERSITY
 DISTRICT

BALLARD

Broadview
Bitter Lake
Greenwood
Crownhill
North Beach
Blue Ridge

Phinney Ridge
Green Lake
Wallingford
Fremont

Industrial District
Georgetown
South Park
Harbor Island

Roosevelt
Wedgwood
View Ridge
Sand Point
Ravenna
Bryant
Windermere
Laurelhurst7

McClure Middle

Genesee Hill
Elementary

Rainier Beach
High

12

CASCADE



26 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Top 10 Neighborhoods with Highest Rates of Chronic Absenteeism 
for Homeless Students, SY 2015–16 

Chronically Absent  
Neighborhood Homeless Students Total Homeless Students  Chronic Absenteeism Rate

Downtown 15 24 63%
Rainier Valley 430 1,013 42%
Queen Anne 27 67 40%
Ballard 28 72 39%
Delridge 144 376 38%
Roosevelt/Wedgwood/View Ridge 50 138 36%
Northgate 76 210 36%
Central Area 195 558 35%
Lake City 53 157 34%
West Seattle 51 155 33%

 Top 10 Schools with Highest Number of Chronically Absent Homeless Students, 
SY 2015–16 

Chronically Absent  
School Homeless Students Total Homeless Students  Chronic Absenteeism Rate

Rainier Beach High 78 111 70%
Garfield High 73 142 51%
Chief Sealth International High 63 101 62%
South Lake High 49 57 86%
Interagency Intake 48 64 75%
Interagency Open Doors 43 53 81%
Franklin High 42 92 46%
Washington Middle 42 109 39%
David T. Denny International Middle 40 84 48%
Ingraham International High 38 64 59%

 Where Is Chronic Absenteeism Highest 
for Homeless Students?



27 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Downtown and Rainier Valley saw more  
than 25% of their homeless students transfer 
in mid-year. Many of the transfers in these 
neighborhoods were into Interagency  
Academy locations.

Only 2% of homeless students in Beacon Hill 
and the Industrial District/Georgetown  
transferred into the neighborhood mid-year.

Most schools with many homeless students 
transferring in mid-year were Interagency  
Academy locations. Among mainstream 
schools, Aki Kurose Middle had the most 
homeless students transfer in.

Lowell Elementary and Rainier Beach High 
also had the most homeless transfers for 
their grade levels.

 Where Are Homeless 
 Students Transferring 
 into Mid-Year?
Percent of Homeless Students Enrolled at Any Time  
Who Transferred from Another SPS School,  
by Neighborhood and School
SY 2015–16

Schools
 Elementary
● 0.0%–3.4%

  ● 3.5%–8.1%

  ● 8.2%–14.3%

  ● 14.4%–27.3%

  ● 27.4%–73.9%

 Middle
● 0.0%–3.4%

  ● 3.5%–8.1%

  ● 8.2%–14.3%

  ● 14.4%–27.3%

  ● 27.4%–73.9%

 High
● 0.0%–3.4%

  ● 3.5%–8.1%

  ● 8.2%–14.3%

  ● 14.4%–27.3%

  ● 27.4%–73.9%

● Less Than 10 Homeless 
 Students/Data Unavailable

Neighborhoods

n 0.0%–2.2% n 9.4%–13.0% 

n 2.3%–6.3% n 13.1%–38.2%

n 6.4%–9.3% n Less Than 10 Homeless
   Students/Data Unavailable

MAGNOLIA

1 2

6

11
10

13

19 20 18

18

17 16

15

18

14

8 9

5

3

4

SEWARD 
PARK

INTERBAY

QUEEN ANNE CAPITOL 
HILL

CENTRAL 
AREA

DOWNTOWN

BEACON 
HILL

DELRIDGE

WEST 
SEATTLE

RAINIER 
VALLEY

NORTHGATE LAKE CITY

UNIVERSITY
 DISTRICT

BALLARD

Broadview
Bitter Lake
Greenwood
Crownhill
North Beach
Blue Ridge

Phinney Ridge
Green Lake
Wallingford
Fremont

Industrial District
Georgetown
South Park
Harbor Island

Roosevelt
Wedgwood
View Ridge
Sand Point
Ravenna
Bryant
Windermere
Laurelhurst7

Aki Kurose
Middle

Lowell  
Elementary

Rainier Beach
High

12

CASCADE



28 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Top 10 Neighborhoods with Highest Rate of Homeless Students Transferring in, 
SY 2015–16 

Homeless Students Total Homeless Students Percent of Homeless  
Neighborhood Transferring in at Any Time Enrolled at Any Time Students Transferring in

Downtown 29 76 38%
Rainier Valley 278 1,088 26%
Queen Anne 10 77 13%
Capitol Hill 13 123 11%
Roosevelt/Wedgwood/View Ridge 16 152 11%
Seward Park – – 10%
West Seattle 16 172 9%
Cascade – – 9%
Magnolia – – 9%
Phinney Ridge/Green Lake/Wallingford – – 9%

 Top 10 Schools with Highest Number of Homeless Students Transferring in, 
SY 2015–16 

Homeless Students Total Homeless Students Percent of Homeless  
School Transferring in at Any Time Enrolled at Any Time Students Transferring in

Interagency Intake 49 112 44%
Interagency Open Doors 36 89 40%
Interagency at KC Youth Service 27 63 43%
Interagency at Alder Academy 22 36 61%
South Lake High 20 77 26%
Interagency at Southwest 18 37 49%
Interagency at U District Youth Center 17 23 74%
Interagency at YEP 16 28 57%
Interagency at SEA (Southeast Academy) 13 31 42%
Aki Kurose Middle 11 84 13%

 Where Are Homeless  Students  
Transferring  into Mid-Year?



29 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Downtown and Rainier Valley saw the highest 
rates of homeless student transfers out of a 
school in the area. Many of the transfers in 
these neighborhoods were out of Interagency 
Academy locations.

Many schools with homeless students  
transferring out mid-year were Interagency 
Academy locations. Among mainstream high 
schools, Rainier Beach High and Franklin High 
had the most homeless students transfer out.

Bailey Gatzert Elementary and Denny  
International Middle also had the most  
homeless transfers for their grade level.

MAGNOLIA

1 2

6

11
10

13

19 20 18

18

17
16

15

18

14

8 9

5

3

4

SEWARD 
PARK

INTERBAY

QUEEN ANNE CAPITOL 
HILL

CENTRAL 
AREA

DOWNTOWN

BEACON 
HILL

DELRIDGE

WEST 
SEATTLE

RAINIER 
VALLEY

NORTHGATE LAKE CITY

UNIVERSITY
 DISTRICT

BALLARD

Broadview
Bitter Lake
Greenwood
Crownhill
North Beach
Blue Ridge

Phinney Ridge
Green Lake
Wallingford
Fremont

Industrial District
Georgetown
South Park
Harbor Island

Roosevelt
Wedgwood
View Ridge
Sand Point
Ravenna
Bryant
Windermere
Laurelhurst7

Franklin High

Rainier Beach
High

Bailey Gatzert
Elementary

Denny  
International 
Middle

12

CASCADE

 Where Are Homeless 
 Students Transferring 
 out of Mid-Year?
Percent of Homeless Students Enrolled at Any Time 
Who Transferred to Another SPS School,  
by Neighborhood and School  
SY 2015–16

Schools
 Elementary

● 0.0%–4.3%

  ● 4.4%–11.1%

  ● 11.2%–19.6%

  ● 19.7%–30.8%

  ● 30.9%–77.7%

 Middle

● 0.0%–4.3%

  ● 4.4%–11.1%

  ● 11.2%–19.6%

  ● 19.7%–30.8%

  ● 30.9%–77.7%

 High

● 0.0%–4.3%

  ● 4.4%–11.1%

  ● 11.2%–19.6%

  ● 19.7%–30.8%

  ● 30.9%–77.7%

● Less Than 10 Homeless
Students/Data Unavailable

Neighborhoods

n 0.0%–3.0% n 12.6%–18.2% 

n 3.1%–7.6% n 18.3%–46.1%

n 7.7%–12.5% n Less Than 10 Homeless
 Students/Data Unavailable



30 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Top 10 Neighborhoods with Highest Rate of Homeless Students Transferring out, 
SY 2015–16 

Homeless Students Total Homeless Students Percent of Homeless  
Neighborhood Transferring out at Any Time Enrolled at Any Time Students Transferring out

Downtown 35 76 46%
Cascade – – 18%
Rainier Valley 196 1088 18%
Capitol Hill 18 123 15%
Roosevelt/Wedgwood/View Ridge 19 152 13%
West Seattle 17 172 10%
Ballard – – 9%
Queen Anne – – 9%
Industrial District/Georgetown/South Park – – 9%
Northgate 19 228 8%

 Top 10 Schools with Highest Number of Homeless Students Transferring out, 
SY 2015–16 

Homeless Students Total Homeless Students Percent of Homeless  
School Transferring out at Any Time Enrolled at Any Time Students Transferring out

Interagency Intake 87 112 78%
Interagency at KC Youth Service 31 63 49%
Rainier Beach High 20 119 17%
Interagency at Alder Academy 19 36 53%
Franklin High 14 96 15%
Bailey Gatzert Elementary 13 86 15%
South Lake High 13 77 17%
Lowell Elementary 12 88 14%
Garfield High 11 147 7%
Roosevelt High 11 56 20%

 Where Are Homeless  Students  
Transferring  out of Mid-Year?



31 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

  Section 3 
 Educational Achievement 
 of Homeless Students
Homelessness can affect a child’s cognitive and social development beginning in  
infancy, and the impact of housing instability on academic performance is clearly 
measurable by the time students begin taking mandatory assessments in math and 
English Language Arts (ELA) in the third grade. These tests, which continue through 
the eighth grade and measure whether students are performing at the appropriate 
grade level, are already scrutinized as a measure of the “opportunity gap” that exists 
for other vulnerable groups, such as low-income students and students of color.  
This section illuminates how homelessness can negatively affect students’ educational 
achievement above and beyond the challenges imposed by other factors. 

 Key Findings
West Seattle had the highest rate of  
ELA proficiency and the 2nd-highest rate of 
math proficiency among neighborhoods with 
a large number of homeless students.  

The opportunity gap faced by homeless 
students has persisted across multiple  
years and was largely unaffected by the 
change in testing curricula after the  
2013–14 school year.

 Policy Considerations
Efforts to close opportunity gaps for  
underserved groups of students, both by SPS 
and private organizations like the Road Map 
Project, can also address the unique impedi-
ments to students’ educational achievement 
created by homelessness.

Research in other cities has shown the  
lasting impact that homelessness has on  
academic performance even after a student 
has returned to permanent housing. Contin-
ued supports and services for the formerly 
homeless can be an important component  
in closing the opportunity gap.



32 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Two in Five Homeless 
 Students Receive 
 Lowest Achievement 
 Level on Tests
In both math and ELA, over 40% of homeless 
students received the lowest score on the 
four-point scale used to judge whether a stu-
dent meets the standard for their grade level.

Only one in 10 homeless students scored at 
achievement level 4 (in either math or ELA), 
compared to over 40% of housed students 
who earned the highest possible score.

Homeless students’ test scores were more 
polarized than those of all low-income stu-
dents. Across all grade levels, the percent of 
low-income students given an achievement  
level of 1 was 29% in math and 31% in ELA.

3rd–8th Grade Test Achievement 
Levels, by Housing Status
SY 2015–16
n Achievement Level 1 n Achievement Level 2 
n Achievement Level 3 n Achievement Level 4 

Housed students

Homeless students

Housed students

Homeless students

 Homeless Students 
 Meet Test Standards 
 Half as Often as 
 Housed Students
Close to one in three homeless students was 
scored as meeting the grade level standard on 
statewide tests given to 3rd–8th graders  
in math and ELA in SY 2015–16. 

The latest test scores represent an improve-
ment over the previous year (the first using 
Common Core curricula), but still showed 
approximately half the proficiency rate of 
housed students taking the same tests.

Proficiency Rates,  
by Housing Status and Year
SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16
n ELA proficiency for housed students 
n Math proficiency for housed students 
n ELA proficiency for homeless students
n Math proficiency for homeless students 

SY 2015-16SY 2014-15SY 2013-14SY 2012-13

69%

66%

35%

30%

65%

61%

29%

27%

80%

75%

53%

39%

81%

76%

49%

35%

43%

11%

40%

10%

25%

20%

31%

24%

18%

28%

14%

24%

13%

42%

14%

42%

M
at

h
E

LA



33 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Homeless Students 
 Less Likely to Meet 
 Math Standard Than 
 Low-Income Peers
Low-income students performed better  
than homeless students on math assessment 
tests at all grade levels. On 3rd grade exams, 
48% of low-income students met the test 
standard in math, compared with only 37%  
of homeless students.

The gap in math achievement between  
homeless and low-income students was  
largest among 7th and 8th graders, with a  
15 percentage point gap in achievement rates.

Math Proficiency Rates for  
Homeless and Low-Income Students, 
by Grade Level
SY 2015–16
n Homeless students
n Low-income students

 Proficiency in  ELA   
 Higher among   
 Low-Income Students 
 Than Homeless
Homeless students were less likely to pass  
the ELA assessment than the larger pool of 
low-income students. On 3rd grade exams, 
41% of low-income students met the test 
standard in ELA, compared with only  
31% of homeless students.

Seventh grade saw the largest gap in  
ELA proficiency rates between the homeless 
and low-income groups. Forty-six percent of 
low-income students met the standard  
for ELA, compared with just 33% of  
homeless students.

ELA Proficiency Rates for  
Homeless and Low-Income Students, 
by Grade Level
SY 2015–16
n Homeless students
n Low-income students

37
%

34
%

43
%

23
%

35
%

30
%

39
%

26
%

41
%

31
%

46
%48

%

3rd 
Grade

4th 
Grade

5th 
Grade

6th 
Grade

7th 
Grade

8th 
Grade

31
% 33

%
40

%

40
% 45

%

31
%

43
%

33
%

46
%

39
%

50
%

41
%

3rd 
Grade

4th 
Grade

5th 
Grade

6th 
Grade

7th 
Grade

8th 
Grade



34 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Homelessness  
 Increases Racial 
 Disparities in Test 
 Performance
One in four black homeless students scored 
at the grade-level standard in either math or 
ELA. Around one in three Hispanic homeless 
students also met standards.

Caucasian homeless students were scored  
as proficient at roughly the same rate as  
Hispanic students who were housed.

SPS has several policies and programs  
aimed at reducing racial disparities in learning 
and performance and added a professional 
development program in SY 2015–16.

Continuing to expand the professional  
development of educators and services  
that address racial disparities and the impact 
of housing instability could increase the rate  
of improvement in student performance.

Proficiency Rates, by Race/Ethnicity
SY 2015–16
n Housed students
n Homeless students

 Doubled-up  
 Students Performed 
 Slightly Better Than 
 Those in Shelter
In both elementary and middle school,  
homeless students who were doubled up met 
grade-level standards at slightly higher rates 
than their classmates who stayed in shelters, 
though only in ELA were these differences 
statistically significant.

The largest gap was in middle school, where  
only 26% of sheltered students scored as 
proficient in ELA, while 38% of doubled-up 
students met the grade-level standard.

Proficiency Rates,  
by Primary Nighttime Residence  
and Grade Level
SY 2015–16
n Sheltered students, math 
n Doubled-up students, math 
n Sheltered students, ELA 
n Doubled-up students, ELA

23
% 30

%
46

%

45
%

77
%

26
%37

%

34
%

50
% 54

%
81

%

34
%

Black Hispanic Cauca-
sian

Cauca-
sian

Math ELA

Black Hispanic

28
%

34
% 38

%

29
%

24
%

31
%

26
%

38
%

Grades 3–5 Grades 6–8



35 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Seward Park and Magnolia had the highest 
homeless proficiency rates, but relatively 
few homeless students tested.

Beacon Hill and West Seattle had the  
highest homeless proficiency rates among 
neighborhoods with a large number of  
homeless students.

In schools with at least 10 homeless students 
tested, West Seattle Elementary and Mercer 
International Middle had the highest math 
proficiency rates for their grade levels.

Mercer International Middle and Aki Kurose 
Middle had the most homeless students who 
met the standard in math, with 31 each.

 Geographic Patterns 
 of Math Proficiency 
 among Homeless  
 Students
Percent of Homeless Students Who Met Grade-Level 
Standard in 3rd–8th Grade Math Test,  
by Neighborhood and School  
SY 2015–16

Schools
 Elementary

● 0.0%–11.1%

  ● 11.2%–21.4%

  ● 21.5%–30.8%

  ● 30.9%–41.9%

  ● 42.0%–50.0%

 Middle

● 0.0%–11.1%

  ● 11.2%–21.4%

  ● 21.5%–30.8%

  ● 30.9%–41.9%

  ● 42.0%–50.0%

● Less Than 10 Homeless
Students/Data Unavailable

Neighborhoods

n 18.8%–21.1% n 34.5%–40.0% 

n 21.2%–25.0% n 40.1%–46.2%

n 25.1%–34.4% n Less Than 10 Homeless
 Students/Data Unavailable

MAGNOLIA

1 2

6

11
10

13

19 20 18

18

17 16

15

18

14

8 9

5

3

4

SEWARD 
PARK

INTERBAY

QUEEN ANNE CAPITOL 
HILL

CENTRAL 
AREA

DOWNTOWN

BEACON 
HILL

DELRIDGE

WEST 
SEATTLE

RAINIER 
VALLEY

NORTHGATE LAKE CITY

UNIVERSITY
 DISTRICT

BALLARD

Broadview
Bitter Lake
Greenwood
Crownhill
North Beach
Blue Ridge

Phinney Ridge
Green Lake
Wallingford
Fremont

Industrial District
Georgetown
South Park
Harbor Island

Roosevelt
Wedgwood
View Ridge
Sand Point
Ravenna
Bryant
Windermere
Laurelhurst

7

West Seattle
Elementary

Mercer
International
Middle

Aki Kurose
Middle

12

CASCADE



36 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Top 10 Neighborhoods with Highest Math Proficiency Rate for 3rd–8th Grade  
Homeless Students, SY 2015–16    

  Homeless Students Who  Total Homeless Students Percent of Homeless Students  
Neighborhood Met Grade-Level Standard Tested Who Met Grade-Level Standard

Seward Park – – 46%
Magnolia – – 45%
Beacon Hill 54 135 40%
West Seattle 26 67 39%
Lake City 21 61 34%
Northgate 14 41 34%
Delridge 48 144 33%
Rainier Valley 69 221 31%
Roosevelt/Wedgwood/View Ridge 10 40 25%
Capitol Hill – – 24%

 Top 10 Schools with Highest Number of Homeless Students Proficient in 3rd–8th Grade Math,  
SY 2015–16    

  Homeless Students Who  Total Homeless Students Percent of Homeless Students  
School Met Grade-Level Standard Tested Who Met Grade-Level Standard

Mercer International Middle 31 63 49%
Aki Kurose Middle 31 74 42%
Denny International Middle 25 63 40%
Washington Middle 19 100 19%
Dunlap Elementary 15 34 44%
Bailey Gatzert Elementary 14 31 45%
Whitman Middle 10 54 19%
West Seattle Elementary 10 20 50%
Van Asselt Elementary 10 24 42%
Madison Middle – – 35%

 Geographic Patterns  of Math Proficiency 
 among Homeless  Students



37 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

West Seattle and Capitol Hill had the highest 
homeless proficiency rates in ELA.

In the Central Area, where close to 200 home-
less students took the ELA exam, only 27% 
scored at or above the grade-level standard.

In schools with at least 10 homeless students 
tested, Olympic Hills Elementary and Mercer 
International Middle had the highest ELA  
proficiency rates for their grade levels.

Washington Middle and Mercer International 
Middle had the most homeless students who 
met the standard in ELA.

 Geographic Patterns 
 of ELA Proficiency 
 among Homeless  
 Students
Percent of Homeless Students Who Met Grade-Level  
Standard in 3rd–8th Grade ELA Test,  
by Neighborhood and School  
SY 2015–16

Schools
 Elementary

● 5.9%–10.0%

  ● 10.1%–23.5%

  ● 23.6%–37.5%

  ● 37.6%–50.0%

  ● 50.1%–71.4%

 Middle

● 5.9%–10.0%

  ● 10.1%–23.5%

  ● 23.6%–37.5%

  ● 37.6%–50.0%

  ● 50.1%–71.4%

● Less Than 10 Homeless 
 Students/Data Unavailable

Neighborhoods

n 0.0%–5.9% n 35.2%–44.1% 

n 6.0%–28.9% n 44.2%–53.7%

n 29.0%–35.1% n Less Than 10 Homeless
   Students/Data Unavailable

MAGNOLIA

1 2

6

11
10

13

19 20 18

18

17 16

15

18

14

8 9

5

3

4

SEWARD 
PARK

INTERBAY

QUEEN ANNE CAPITOL 
HILL

CENTRAL 
AREA

DOWNTOWN

BEACON 
HILL

DELRIDGE

WEST 
SEATTLE

RAINIER 
VALLEY

NORTHGATE LAKE CITY

UNIVERSITY
 DISTRICT

BALLARD

Broadview
Bitter Lake
Greenwood
Crownhill
North Beach
Blue Ridge

Phinney Ridge
Green Lake
Wallingford
Fremont

Industrial District
Georgetown
South Park
Harbor Island

Roosevelt
Wedgwood
View Ridge
Sand Point
Ravenna
Bryant
Windermere
Laurelhurst7

Washington 
Middle

Mercer
International
Middle

Olympic Hills
Elementary

12

CASCADE



38 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Top 10 Neighborhoods with Highest ELA Proficiency Rate for 3rd–8th Grade 
Homeless Students, SY 2015–16 

Homeless Students Who  Total Homeless Students Percent of Homeless Students  
Neighborhood Met Grade-Level Standard Tested Who Met Grade-Level Standard

West Seattle 36 67 54%
Capitol Hill 15 34 44%
Beacon Hill 55 132 42%
Northgate 16 41 39%
Rainier Valley 78 222 35%
Phinney Ridge/Green Lake/Wallingford 20 57 35%
Roosevelt/Wedgwood/View Ridge 14 40 35%
Delridge 50 143 35%
Lake City 21 61 34%
Queen Anne 11 38 29%

 Top 10 Schools with Highest Number of Homeless Students Proficient in 
3rd–8th Grade ELA, SY 2015–16 

Homeless Students Who  Total Homeless Students Percent of Homeless Students  
School Met Grade-Level Standard Tested Who Met Grade-Level Standard

Washington Middle 31 99 31%
Mercer International Middle 30 62 48%
Aki Kurose Middle 27 73 37%
Denny International Middle 25 62 40%
Dunlap Elementary 16 34 47%
Madison Middle 12 26 46%
Whitman Middle 12 54 22%
Broadview-Thomson K–8 11 24 46%
Olympic Hills Elementary 10 14 71%
Hazel Wolf K–8 10 23 43%

 Geographic Patterns  of ELA Proficiency 
 among Homeless  Students



39 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

  Section 4 
 Homeless Students  
 and School Discipline
 The trauma of homelessness can have significant effects on the emotional and  
mental well-being of students of all ages. In some cases, the negative impact of  
housing instability on a student’s mental health can lead to disruptive behaviors  
and other actions detrimental to a safe learning environment for all students.  
At the same time, there has been an ongoing debate amongst educators about  
the use of suspensions as a disciplinary measure and the most constructive way  
to help students with behavioral challenges. Given the other obstacles presented 
by homelessness, such as absenteeism and a higher rate of mid-year transfers,  
it is especially important that homeless students are not sidetracked by  
disciplinary issues and can stay in school as much as possible. 

 Key Findings
The Broadview/Bitter Lake neighborhood  
had the highest suspension/expulsion rate 
for homeless students.

Madrona K–8, Denny International Middle, 
and Franklin High had the highest number of 
“Exceptional Misconduct” incidents involving 
homeless students for their grade levels.

Homeless students were more likely to be  
disciplined for “Exceptional Misconduct”  
in elementary school than housed students. 
They were also more likely to receive a sus-
pension for a less severe “District Offense” 
than housed students.

 Policy Considerations
The moratorium on suspensions for nonvio-
lent offenses in elementary school benefits 
homeless students directly, as they are more 
likely to be disciplined and may already be 
chronically absent due to homelessness.

Other steps to address racial disparities  
in school discipline, such as those outlined  
by the Race and Social Justice Initiative,  
will help homeless students. To address  
the traumatic impact of housing instability 
and its unique effect on student behavior,  
additional early-intervention strategies 
should also be considered.



40 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Homeless Students 
 Disciplined at  
 Twice the Rate of 
 Housed Students
The percentage of homeless students  
who were disciplined over the course of the 
school year declined in SY 2015–16. Homeless 
students were still being cited, however,  
at twice the rate of housed students.

Almost 8% of all students who were 
homeless in SY 2015–16 received a  
suspension or expulsion.

Discipline Rates, by Housing Status 
SY 2013–14 to SY 2015–16
n Percent of homeless students disciplined
n Percent of homeless students suspended or expelled
n Percent of housed students disciplined  
n Percent of housed students suspended or expelled

 Racial Disparities  
 in Discipline  
 Compounded  by   
 Housing Instability 
Nearly 11% of black homeless students  
received either a suspension or expulsion 
during SY 2015–16. This is higher than the  
7% rate for black students who were housed.

Addressing racial disparities in school  
discipline has been a major focus of SPS,  
with one goal being a reduction in out-of-
school suspensions of students. This can be 
especially important for homeless students, 
who may not have a place to stay during  
the day when not in school.

Percent Suspended or Expelled, 
by Race and Housing Status
SY 2015–16
n Housed students
n Homeless students

SY 2015–16SY 2014–15SY 2013–14

9.5%

7.7%

4.0%

2.8%

11.7%

9.2%

3.0%

4.6%

11.5%

9.1%

5.3%

3.5%

2%

4%

7%

11%

4%
5%

2%

6%

Caucasian Black Hispanic Other



41 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Homeless Students 
Receive Stronger 
Penalties for Same 
Level of Offense 
In SY 2015–16, only 53% of homeless students 
who were cited for a less severe “District  
Offense” received a school-based disciplinary 
action instead of a suspension or expulsion. 
By contrast, 68% of housed students with a 
district offense were spared a suspension.

Forty-seven percent of homeless students 
who committed a district offense were sus-
pended from school for 10 days or fewer,  
compared to 32% of housed students.

Disciplinary Actions for District 
Offenses, by Housing Status
SY 2015–16
n Short-Term Suspension
n School-Based Action

 Young Homeless  
 Students Disciplined 
 for More Serious  
 Incidents
In elementary school, homeless students were 
more likely to be disciplined for the more 
severe offenses categorized by SPS as “Ex-
ceptional Misconduct.” Sixty-three percent of 
offenses committed by homeless students in 
elementary school were in this category.

In higher grades, homeless and housed 
students were cited for more serious  
offenses at about the same rate.

Types of Offenses, by Grade Level 
and Housing Status
SY 2015–16
n District Offense
n Exceptional Misconduct 

9th–12th Grade housed students

9th–12th Grade homeless students

6th–8th Grade housed students

6th–8th Grade homeless students

Kindergartedn - 5th

Kindergarten–5th Grade housed students

Kindergarten–5th Grade homeless students

30%

33%

48%

49%

51%

37%

70%

67%

52%

51%

49%

63%

53%
47%

Housed students

32%

68%

Homeless students



42 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Homeless Students 
with IEPs More Likely 
to Be Disciplined 
Just over half of homeless students who re-
ceived a disciplinary action in SY 2015–16 had 
an IEP. Students in special education made up 
only 20% of all homeless students that year.

Homeless students with IEPs were more 
likely to be cited for exceptional misconduct. 
Among disciplined homeless students without 
an IEP, 51% were cited for exceptional miscon-
duct, compared to 64% among students with 
an IEP.

Percent of Disciplined Homeless 
Students, by IEP Status and  
Type of Offense
SY 2015–16
n District Offense; students without an IEP
n Exceptional Misconduct; students without an IEP
n District Offense; students with an IEP
n Exceptional Misconduct; students with an IEP

32%
24%

25%

18%



43 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Fifteen percent of homeless students in  
the Broadview/Bitter Lake neighborhood 
were given suspensions or expelled during 
SY 2015–16.

Rainier Valley had the highest number of 
homeless students suspended or expelled, 
with 83.

Not counting alternative or service schools, 
Madrona K–8, Washington Middle, and Frank-
lin High were the schools that suspended or 
expelled the highest number of homeless  
students for their grade level.

 Geographic Patterns of 
 Discipline Rates among  
 Homeless Students
Percent of Homeless Students Who Received a  
Suspension or Expulsion, by Neighborhood and School 
SY 2015–16

Schools
 Elementary

● 1.3%–3.7%

  ● 3.8%–5.9%

  ● 6.0%–8.7%

  ● 8.8%–16.4%

  ● 16.5%–29.9%

 Middle

● 1.3%–3.7%

  ● 3.8%–5.9%

  ● 6.0%–8.7%

  ● 8.8%–16.4%

  ● 16.5%–29.9%

 High

● 1.3%–3.7%

  ● 3.8%–5.9%

  ● 6.0%–8.7%

  ● 8.8%–16.4%

  ● 16.5%–29.9%

● Less Than 10 Homeless
Students/Data Unavailable

Neighborhoods

n 0.9%–4.2% n 8.9%–10.0% 

n 4.3%–6.9% n 10.1%–15.2%

n 7.0%–8.8% n Less Than 10 Homeless
 Students/Data Unavailable

MAGNOLIA

1 2

6

11
10

13

12

19 20 18

18

17 16

15

18

14

8 9

5

3

4

SEWARD 
PARK

INTERBAY

QUEEN ANNE CAPITOL 
HILL

CENTRAL 
AREA

DOWNTOWN

BEACON 
HILL

DELRIDGE

WEST 
SEATTLE

RAINIER 
VALLEY

NORTHGATE LAKE CITY

UNIVERSITY
 DISTRICT

BALLARD

Broadview
Bitter Lake
Greenwood
Crownhill
North Beach
Blue Ridge

Phinney Ridge
Green Lake
Wallingford
Fremont

Industrial District
Georgetown
South Park
Harbor Island

Roosevelt
Wedgwood
View Ridge
Sand Point
Ravenna
Bryant
Windermere
Laurelhurst7

Washington 
Middle

Madrona K–8

Franklin High

CASCADE



44 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Geographic Patterns of Discipline Rates 
among Homeless Students
 Top 10 Neighborhoods with Highest Suspension/Expulsion Rate for Homeless Students, 
SY 2015–16 

Homeless Students  Percent  
Neighborhood Suspended or Expelled Total Homeless Students Suspended or Expelled

Broadview/Bitter Lake/Greenwood 27 178 15%
Queen Anne – – 10%
Central Area 52 548 9%
Roosevelt/Wedgwood/View Ridge 12 137 9%
Beacon Hill 25 295 8%
Downtown – – 8%
Delridge 30 369 8%
Rainier Valley 83 1047 8%
West Seattle 12 155 8%
Seward Park – – 7%

 Top 10 Schools with Highest Number of Homeless Students Suspended or Expelled, 
SY 2015–16 

Homeless Students  Percent 
School Suspended or Expelled Total Homeless Students Suspended or Expelled

Washington Middle 27 106 25%
Whitman Middle 20 67 30%
Denny International Middle 18 83 22%
South Lake High 15 64 23%
Mercer International Middle 12 73 16%
Madrona K–8 12 42 29%
Franklin High 11 81 14%
South Shore K–8 11 43 26%
Rainier Beach High 10 99 10%
Aki Kurose Middle 10 81 12%



45 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Over 80% of the disciplinary incidents involv-
ing homeless students in Delridge, Phinney 
Ridge/Green Lake, and Northgate were  
categorized as “Exceptional Misconduct.”

Rainier Valley saw the highest number of  
“Exceptional Misconduct” offenses committed 
by homeless students, with 101.

Madrona K–8, Denny International Middle, and 
Franklin High had the highest number of disci-
plinary incidents involving homeless students 
that were categorized as “Exceptional Mis-
conduct” at their respective grade levels.

  Types of Disciplined 
 Behavior among  
 Homeless Students 
Percent of Homeless Students’ Offenses Categorized as 
Exceptional Misconduct, by Neighborhood and School  
SY 2015–16

Schools
 Elementary
● 32.4%–42.2%

  ● 42.3%–61.9%

  ● 62.0%–80.0%

  ● 80.1%–90.2%

  ● 90.3%–100.0%

 Middle
● 32.4%–42.2%

  ● 42.3%–61.9%

  ● 62.0%–80.0%

  ● 80.1%–90.2%

  ● 90.3%–100.0%

 High
● 32.4%–42.2%

  ● 42.3%–61.9%

  ● 62.0%–80.0%

  ● 80.1%–90.2%

  ● 90.3%–100.0%

● Less Than 10 Homeless
Students/Data Unavailable

Neighborhoods

n 0.0%–30.8% n 57.7%–77.7% 

n 30.9%–46.2% n 77.8%–86.2%

n 46.3%–57.6% n Less Than 10 Homeless
 Students/Data Unavailable

MAGNOLIA

1 2

6

11
10

13

19 20 18

18

17 16

15

18

14

8 9

5

3

4

SEWARD 
PARK

INTERBAY

QUEEN ANNE CAPITOL 
HILL

CENTRAL 
AREA

DOWNTOWN

BEACON 
HILL

DELRIDGE

WEST 
SEATTLE

RAINIER 
VALLEY

NORTHGATE LAKE CITY

UNIVERSITY
 DISTRICT

BALLARD

Broadview
Bitter Lake
Greenwood
Crownhill
North Beach
Blue Ridge

Phinney Ridge
Green Lake
Wallingford
Fremont

Industrial District
Georgetown
South Park
Harbor Island

Roosevelt
Wedgwood
View Ridge
Sand Point
Ravenna
Bryant
Windermere
Laurelhurst7

Madrona K–8

Franklin High

Denny  
International 
Middle

12

CASCADE



46 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Top 10 Neighborhoods with Highest Percent of Exceptional Misconduct Offenses 
among Homeless Students, SY 2015–16 

Exceptional Percent Exceptional  
Neighborhood Misconduct Offenses Total Offenses Misconduct Offenses

Delridge 56 65 86%
Phinney Ridge/Green Lake/Wallingford 10 12 83%
Northgate – – 80%
Rainier Valley 101 130 78%
West Seattle 18 24 75%
Beacon Hill 38 66 58%
Lake City 10 18 56%
Central Area 72 156 46%
Roosevelt/Wedgwood/View Ridge 24 55 44%
Broadview/Bitter Lake/Greenwood 42 103 41%

 Top 10 Schools with Highest Number of Exceptional Misconduct Offenses 
among Homeless Students, SY 2015–16 

Exceptional Percent Exceptional  
School Misconduct Offenses Total Offenses Misconduct Offenses

Denny International Middle 37 41 90%
Washington Middle 35 83 42%
Whitman Middle 33 85 39%
Madrona K–8 24 35 69%
Van Asselt Elementary 22 26 85%
Franklin High 17 23 74%
Rainier Beach High 15 25 60%
Aki Kurose Middle 14 14 100%
South Lake High 14 14 100%
South Shore K–8 14 18 78%

  Types of Disciplined  Behavior 
among  Homeless Students



47 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 Methodology and  
 Data Notes
Methodology
Data for The Atlas of Student Homelessness in Seattle 
were provided by Seattle Public Schools and tabulated 
by the Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homeless-
ness. Data sets containing de-identified student demo-
graphics (including homelessness status), enrollment 
history, state assessment results, disciplinary records, 
and primary nighttime residence for homeless stu-
dents were merged and analyzed using Stata 14 and 
Microsoft Excel. In cases where records conflicted as 
to a student’s housing status, the status as recorded 
in the demographics data set was used.

All analyses comparing outcomes of homeless and 
housed students were tested for statistical signifi-
cance using Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney tests, Kruskal- 
Wallis tests, and two-sample tests of proportions. 
Unless noted in the accompanying text or data notes, 
all differences were statistically significant at the  
95% level. Some percentages displayed in charts  
may not add to 100% due to rounding.

To comply with the Family Educational Rights and 
Privacy Act (FERPA), which protects the privacy of 
students’ educational records, all subtotals containing 
fewer than 10 students in a single category were  
suppressed prior to publication. In some cases,  
complementary suppression was used if the inclusion 
of a data point could lead to the easy calculation of  
an already-suppressed subtotal of students.

Citywide maps were created in ArcGIS and are 
included to enable visual comparisons across neigh-
borhoods. The boundaries for neighborhoods shown 
in this Atlas are the Seattle City Clerk’s unofficial 
delineation for “large” neighborhoods, used for consis-
tency in archival and record retrieval purposes. Other 
geographic boundaries were tested during the analysis 
process but were not chosen either due to their large 
size and lack of variability (e.g. city council districts, 
MS/HS attendance zones) or sample size and privacy 
concerns (e.g. census tracts, “small” neighborhoods).

School location data was downloaded from the  
Seattle Public Schools website, excluding schools  
in the Middle College High School and Interagency  
Academy systems. Addresses were found on these 
schools’ official websites, and their locations geocoded 
and merged into the Seattle Public Schools shapefile.

On all maps, natural breaks were used, a method of 
grouping data with similar values while maximizing  
the difference between groups.

Schools in data tables were ranked based on raw  
numbers in order to maximize the amount of infor-
mation that could be shown without violating privacy 
standards. Map data, however, was created using  
the percentage form of a given variable. As a result, 
there are some points where map highlights and the 
accompanying table do not show the same “top”  
school in a given category.



48 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Data Notes
Section 1
Homeless Students’ Primary Nighttime Residence
A student’s primary nighttime residence (PNR) was 
determined using the “Reported Status” variable of the 
relevant data set. In four cases, a student recorded as 
homeless in the demographics data set did not have a 
reported status for PNR. Fifty-three students who had 
a reported PNR were not recorded as homeless in the 
demographics data set and are not included here.

Unaccompanied Youth,  
by Primary Nighttime Residence
The “Other unaccompanied youth” category includes 
students who lived in a hotel or motel or were  
unsheltered.

Number of Years Homeless
The chart includes data from SY 2012–13 to SY 2015–16 
for all students who were homeless in SY 2015–16.  
Students may have experienced homelessness in  
previous years or in other school districts, which is  
not shown here.

Section 2
Percent of Students Who Were  
Chronically Absent, by Housing Status
Students who were recorded as being enrolled but 
had null or missing data values for days absent or  
days present were excluded from the analysis.

Chronic Absenteeism Rates, by Grade  
and Primary Nighttime Residence
Homeless students who were unsheltered or  
living in hotels/motels were not included in this  
analysis due to small sample size. The difference in 
chronic absenteeism rates between sheltered and  
doubled-up students in 6th–8th grades was  
not statistically significant.

Percent of Students with a Mid-Year Transfer,  
by Grade and Housing Status
This chart includes only students who transferred 
to a different school within SPS. Students who  
transferred into or out of SPS from other school  
districts are not shown here.

Section 3
Proficiency Rates, by Housing Status and Year
Measurements of Student Progress (MSP) was the 
Washington State standardized assessment prior to 
SY 2014–15, when it was replaced with the Smarter 
Balanced Assessment (SBA). SBA uses Common Core 
standards to evaluate student proficiency in 3rd–8th 
grade math and ELA.

3rd–8th Grade Test Performance Levels,  
by Housing Status
This analysis does not include students who were 
exempted from testing, received a “No Score,” or were 
enrolled in special education and received a “Basic” 
proficiency score. Students were exempted from test-
ing due to not being enrolled during the testing win-
dow, being partially enrolled, being medically exempt, 
having previously passed, or having a “New Non-English 
Proficient” status. Students received a “No Score” 
designation if no test booklet was submitted, they 
were enrolled in school but not tested, they tested 
out of grade level math and ELA, or their tests were 
incomplete, insufficient, or invalidated. Percentages 
may not add to 100% due to rounding.

Math and ELA Proficiency Rates for Homeless  
and Low-Income Students, by Grade Level
Low-income data are from the Office of Superinten-
dent of Public Instruction, “Washington State  
Report Card,” reportcard.ospi.k12.wa.us, accessed 
October 11, 2017. Homeless students are included in 
the larger low-income category. Due to the use of 
different data sources, the two groups cannot be sep-
arated. The difference in test scores on the 5th-grade 
ELA exam was not statistically significant.



49 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

Proficiency Rates, by Race/Ethnicity
This analysis does not include American Indian,  
Asian, Multiracial, or Pacific Islander students  
due to small sample size.

Proficiency Rates, by Primary Nighttime Residence 
and Grade Level
Homeless students who were unsheltered or living  
in hotels/motels were not included in this analysis  
due to small sample size.

Section 4
Discipline Rates, by Housing Status
Students are included as having a suspension or 
expulsion if they were suspended or expelled any time 
during the school year, regardless of whether they also 
received any other type of disciplinary action.

Percent Suspended or Expelled,  
by Race and Housing Status
The “other” category includes multiracial, Asian, 
American Indian, and Pacific Islander students. 
There were 11 offenses in SY 2015–16 that were  
coded as neither District Offense nor Exceptional  
Misconduct; these were not included here. The  
difference in rates among Hispanic students  
was not statistically significant.

Types of Offenses, by Grade Level  
and Housing Status
Differences in rates of Exceptional Misconduct 
between homeless and housed students were not sta-
tistically significant for 6th–8th and 9th–12th grades.

Disciplinary Actions for District Offenses,  
by Housing Status
School-based actions include the following: Interim 
Alternative Education Setting, Office Referral,  
Alternatives to Suspension, and other actions.  
Short-term suspensions are one to 10 days long.

Geographic Patterns of Discipline Rates  
among Homeless Students
The neighborhood and school of attendance used here 
were those in which students were enrolled at the end 
of the school year.



50 THE SEATTLE ATLAS OF STUDENT HOMELESSNESS Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness / ICPHusa.org 

 ICPH_homeless

 InstituteforChildrenandPoverty

 icph_usa

 ICPHusa

ICPH is an independent, New York City-based  
public policy organization that works on the issues  
of poverty and family homelessness.

For questions or additional copies contact: 
media@ICPHusa.org 
212-358-8086

© 2017, The Institute for Children, Poverty, and Homelessness



[INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



1 

January 14, 2020 

Mayor Jesse Arreguin 
Members of the City Council 
2180 Milvia Street 
Berkeley, CA 94704 

Dear Mayor Arreguin and Members of the City Council, 

I am writing on behalf of the Homeless Services Panel of Experts in response to the Council action on 
December 3, 2019 and its consideration/confirmation to be taken up at the January 21 meeting. 

The Panel was delighted to see a proposed investment of up to $2.5 million in permanent housing 
subsidies as part of the December 3rd proposal.  However, we object to this allocation occurring only if, 
and after, revenues exceed $6 million annually, resulting in an unknown commitment to housing and a 
delay in implementation. 

The Panel deliberated at several meetings to reach a unanimous recommendation for prioritized 
categories of expenditures under Measure P designed to balance short and long-term needs, as 
reflected in our statement of purpose. We are writing now to underscore our primary recommendation 
which was to allocate 30% of the funding for housing subsidies, with a set-aside of funding for homeless 
families. 

We understand that the anticipated minimum of Measure P-generated funding is now understood to be 
$6 million annually, with potential for more.  We therefore strongly encourage Council to allocate at 
least the 30% we recommended to permanent housing subsidies and accompanying services. This would 
be at least $1.8 million annually, including a set-aside for families of $500,000.  

$1.8 million in expanded housing subsidies could make a significant impact on homelessness in Berkeley: 

• $500,000 for families would make a significant impact on reducing and moving toward ending
family homelessness.

• $1.3 million for homeless adults, including Transition Age youth, would provide significant
additional housing exits from the current and proposed expanded temporary programs, and is
consistent with the amount staff recommended as a starting place for subsidies under the 1,000
Person Plan presented at the Council work session in January 2019.

We believe that at least this amount of funding for subsidies should be committed in full prior to 
allocating funding to other items.  

We also wish to underscore the urgency of getting funding out as quickly as possible.  We urge Council 
to ensure that all Measure P funds begin to flow as quickly as possible after adoption and that Council 
request the City Manager to bring back a timeline for the commitment and expenditure of Measure P 
funds. 

Attachment 6



2 

Thank you for your consideration and your commitment to addressing homelessness in the City of 
Berkeley. 

Sincerely, 

Katharine Gale 
Chair, Homeless Services Panel of Experts 

As approved by the Homeless Services Panel of Experts at its January 7, 2020 meeting: 

Action: M/S/C cheema/Whitson to send a letter to Council in response to Council action on Measure P 
allocations. The letter will underscore the panel’s primary recommendations: 30% for PSH or at least 
$1.8 million, $500,000 set aside for families, and funding this in full prior to other allocations. The 
remaining $1.3 is consistent with the 1000 person plan. Also a request for a timeline of implementing 
funds. 

Vote:     Ayes: Carrasco, cheema, Gale, Metz, Patil, Whitson, Jordan, Trotz, Sutton. 
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None. 


	02-05-20HomelessPanelofExpertsAgenda - final
	MEETING AGENDA
	Commission Secretary:  Brittany Carnegie (981-5415)

	1_01-7-20 HomelessServicesPanelMinutes-draft
	MEETING MINUTES

	2a_Panel P meeting goals 1.28
	2_Panel P work plan 12.30
	3_The City of Berkeley’s Plan to End Family Homelessness (HSPE)
	4_Data Sharing Agreement with the Institute for Children, Poverty, & Homelessness (HSPE)
	5_ICPH_Seattle_11_3_Final
	6_Letter to Council from HSPE on Measure P allocations
	Blank Page



